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Corporate Information

NAEER

ABOUT CGN MINING

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands and listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 01164). The
principal activities of the Group are natural uranium investment and
trading with a view to be one of the top suppliers of natural uranium
resources for nuclear power plants.

The Company adheres to its core value of “Doing Things Right in One
Go” and takes “Safety First, Quality Foremost, Pursuing Excellence” as
its working principle.
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HEKBERERERAT

B B IR SR

ARBRHASESEM - EBRXMERLE
m(RERSE - 01164) - AEE T ENE
AARMERNFREE S - EEKR/ZE
BARAMERNERHEH 2 — -

AR RIAEER [ — I E BT | %%
BES UALE2E— EEF— &
REBATIERA



DIRECTORS

Chairman and Non-executive Director

Yu Zhiping

Executive Directors

An Junjing (chief executive officer)
Chen Deshao

Non-executive Directors

Sun Xu
Yin Xiong

Independent Non-executive Directors

Qiu Xianhong
Gao Pei Ji
Lee Kwok Tung Louis

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Qiu Xianhong (chairman)
Sun Xu
Lee Kwok Tung Louis

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Qiu Xianhong (chairman)
Yu Zhiping

An Junjing

Gao Pei Ji

Lee Kwok Tung Louis

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Yu Zhiping (chairman)
An Junjing

Qiu Xianhong

Gao Pei Ji

Lee Kwok Tung Louis

COMPANY SECRETARY

Zheng Xiaowei

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Chen Deshao
Zheng Xiaowei

Corporate Information

NAEER

EE
EEEFUTES
REF

YTES

ZEE (BRBIITE)
FR{EED
*UITEE

3

B
BYKPITES
BRSE

SIEE

B
BRERES

BB (ETE)
%8
FEIR

yMEES

BB ()
REF
RE
A
FEIR
REZRES
KT (E)
RE
BBk
A
FEIR
DEWE
i
REAR

BRiZ AR
HResEE

Annual Report 2019
ZE-NEFFR
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OPERATING RESULTS ¥&

Financial Highlights

MBRRE

For the year ended 31 December
BEZ12A31 HLEEFE

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
2019 & 2018 4 2017 & 2016 2015 £
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FAT TAT FHT FAT
(RESEUE)]
(Note)
(=5
(FiI&E)
Continuing operations  1HEM %%
Revenue B 2,076,688 1,625,974 372,790 707,749 703,422
Operating profit Syl 196,638 172,623 67,746 469513 275,273
Finance costs BEMAK (20,466) (32,110) - (5,601) (21,990)
Profit before taxation BRAE AR F 176,172 140,513 67,746 463,912 253,283
Income tax expense FriSHi (16,163) (18,447) (15,668) (74,782) (49,920)
Profit from continuing REEUEKE
operation il 160,009 122,066 52,078 389,130 203,363
Discontinued Operations  FFiGEM £
Profit from discontinued NI E M ESTS
operation a2l - - - - 94,640
Profit for the year REE R 160,009 122,066 52,078 389,130 298,003
Profit attributable to THATEIERET
Owners of the Company KATHEA 160,009 122,066 52,078 389,130 297,981
Non-controlling interests IR - = = = 22
160,009 122,066 52,078 389,130 298,003

FINANCIAL POSITION B35k 5%

As at 31 December

R12B31 H
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
2019 & 2018 2017 4 2016 4 2015 4
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FTExT T FHL FHIT FHL
(RESEUE)]
(Note)
(& E=5))
(Bt3E)
Total assets EERE 3,095,366 2,674,507 1,911,275 1,886,549 1,145,300
Total liabilities BfEBE (1,151,125) (810,089) (120,520 (69,990)  (385,650)
1,944,241 1,864,418 1,790,755 1,816,559 759,650
Equity attributable to owners  RAEIEA A
of the Company FEfE R 1,944,241 1,864,418 1,790,755 1,816,559 759,650
Non-controlling interests S - - - - -
1,944,241 1,864,418 1,790,755 1,816,559 759,650
Note: The consolidated financial information for the year ended 31 December 2018 Wik : 2T ) \F+-A=1T—HILLFENLE
has been restated to reflect the completion of acquisition of CGN Global on 17 BHERBKES - ARB2019F1 8178 %

January 2019. PR BRI E AR E
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Chairman’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,

In 2019, we were delighted to see nuclear power development in
the PRC restarted after three years of “zero approval”. The approval
to construct several new nuclear power units means we may usher
in a recovery of nuclear power in the PRC. The overall trend is
improving globally as well, with nuclear power generation on the
rise. This confirms our consistent view, that is “nuclear power as an
irreplaceable clean energy source, the development of which must go
forward — and nuclear power in the PRC will have a promising future
development potential”. With positive signs of a growing nuclear
power industry, gradual change may occur to the supply and demand
pattern for the natural uranium industry. The next few years will
therefore present important opportunities for our development before
the price of natural uranium reverses.

As an active participant in the uranium mining industry, we have been
committed to expand our business and influence in the industry and
the market. The Company’s acquisition of CGN Global in early 2019
addressed our shortcomings in overseas natural uranium trading,
bringing positive growth to the Company’s trade volume and driving
a healthy and rational adjustment of its business structure. Although
the industry’s downturn made overseas sales operations difficult,
the results of operation gave us confidence. For the long term, the
Company has always regarded overseas natural uranium trading
as a medium- to long-term strategy, and will attempt to gradually
increase trading profits through new trading models. Beyond this,
the development of an overseas trade business is significant as it
provides the means to cultivate international operations and sales
teams and accumulate talent for the Company’s internationalization
strategy.

As an important measure to seize opportunities stemming from low
natural uranium prices, the search and acquisition of high-quality
natural uranium is another medium- to long-term strategy that is
keenly followed by the Board. The New Kazakhstan Uranium Project
is of top priority among these plans. After our efforts in pushing
forward the project in 2019, breakthrough progress is expected to
be made in 2020. In terms of existing project operation, Semizbay-U
also maintained sound operations in 2019 and continued to make
contribution to the Company. Also worth mentioning is that pre-
feasibility study for the PLS Project of Fission showed a significant
improvement in its economics, providing a reliable theoretical support
for the next phase of development.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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To unveil the Company’s value, a lot of work in Shareholders
communication and market cultivation is required. In 2019, by
establishing a specialized investor relations team, developing
diversified platforms for investor communications and organizing
multiple investor events, initial results in market cultivation have
been achieved, as more capital market participants began to show
interest in the niche field of natural uranium market or enhanced
their understanding in us. This will help strengthen our shareholders
structure and market value.

With the growth of business, the Company has faced more external
factors which hindered our growth. To ensure sound development,
the Board continuously strengthens the Company’s risk management
and internal control. Apart from emphasizing the dynamic adjustment
in response to risks and implementation of a multidimensional
tracking mechanism on the basis of existing risk management and
control systems, the Board also implemented special inspections in
key areas to detect hidden risks in 2019. At the same time, we refined
and republished our internal control manual to ensure that continuous
improvements were made to corporate governance.

At present, the external business environment is becoming more
complicated. The US-China trade frictions have been temporarily
restrained but the outlook is still uncertain. In early 2020, the novel
coronavirus pneumonia epidemic cast shadow on China’s economy.
The current issue of how to survive, seize opportunities and develop
amidst adversity has to be considered. To face these challenges, the
Company will focus on shoring up its foundations, by operating its
existing mine assets well, and improving the operational ability of CGN
Global; improve our profitability and enhance our competitiveness
through lean management and innovative sales models; and build
our sales brand. We will also continue to explore uranium projects
with high economic value or potential, strive for favorable acquisition
terms through screening and dynamic tracking of potential target
projects, and push forward the completion of New Kazakhstan
Uranium Project. Furthermore, we will strive to further the Company’s
development through innovative attempts and, by launching an
equity incentive scheme at appropriate time, to boost the devotion of
management and corporate vitality.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement

After more than eight years of operation, CGN Mining has become
a mining investment and development enterprise ranking among
the world’s top five in terms of international natural uranium trading
volume. We will continue strive towards our goal of becoming
stronger and bigger with clearer strategic planning to pave the way
for the next stage of development. Meanwhile, we welcome investors
and international uranium producers to join us to jointly develop
projects to achieve maximum capital growth.

As chairman of the Board, | wish to express gratitude on behalf of
the Board of CGN Mining for the trust and support of our business
partners, clients and Shareholders. | also sincerely thank all staff
whose endeavors to contribute to the Company’s development in the
past year.

Chairman of the Board
Yu Zhiping

Beijing, 26 March 2020

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Chief Executive Officer’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the management, | present the annual results of the
Company for 2019. During the Reporting Period, the main results
were as follows:

o Revenue amounted to HK$2,077 million (2018: HK$1,626
million);

° Gross profit margin, net selling and distribution expenses was
7% (2018: 7%);

° Profit attributable to owners of the Company was HK$160
million (2018: HK$122 million). Basic earnings per Share was
HK2.42 cents (2018: HK1.85 cents).

In 2019, the price of natural uranium did not continue the rise seen
in 2018, and began to fluctuate at a low level after an initial decline.
Consequently, the Company experienced greater operational
pressures. Nevertheless, the Company has withstood the negative
impacts from the market environment and realized profit while further
optimizing our core capability construction. As chief executive officer,
| would like to thank all Shareholders for their understanding and
support, and the dedicated hard work of all employees. | will now
summarize the main work of CGN Mining in 2019 and outline the
main tasks for the coming year.

In 2019, the Company was committed to a consolidation of its
existing business, procuring Semizbay-U and Fission to achieve
their operational goals and making progress in the New Kazakhstan
Uranium Project. The Company also explored new business and
expanded its natural uranium trade via its CGN Global. Finally, the
Company made its efforts to improve communication with investors
and enhance the discovery and return of its capital market value.

HEHTEHE
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Chief Executive Officer’s Statement

BHEHTERE

Uranium project in production and exploration

During the Reporting Period, Semizbay-U’s Semizbay Mine and Irkol
Mine completed their annual production tasks. Good operational
control enabled Semizbay-U to maintain low production costs and
continue to make a profit at low uranium prices. Fission’s PLS
Project continued its exploration on the foundation made in 2018,
and reserves continued to grow, providing geological information for
the selection of subsequent mining methods and the construction of
a tailing storage facility. Fission also completed pre-feasibility study
reports for open-pit underground hybrid mining and underground-
only mining in May and November 2019, respectively. Both reports
showed that the economy of PLS Project is good and has potential to
rise.

New Kazakhstan Uranium Project

In 2019, the Company engaged in negotiations with Kazatomprom
on the New Kazakhstan Uranium Project and made positive
progress. During the Reporting Period, the Company completed
a comprehensive due diligence on the target company, with
the results strongly supporting its previous assessment of the
project’s economic feasibility. In 2020, both parties will continue
to push forward the implementation of the project and make public
announcement of the progrees at appropriate time.

Natural uranium trade

In addition to completing the off-take volume from Semizbay-U, the
Company vigorously developed its international natural uranium trade
business in 2019. CGN Global strove to innovate its trade model,
open trading channels and continue to expand its trading scale, with
annual trade volume of natural uranium reached 8.08 million pounds
and sales revenue of US$218.78 million was achieved, which became
a new driving force for the Company’s performance growth.

CGN Mining Company Limited
hERIEE AR AR

EERE R IEEE

AR - HARIE R R AR

Bl T 2FEEMLS - BARIAES
B ARG TREMNEERAE T
RRRA 8B N EERIF AT o FissionA 7
FE N EYPLSIE B fE2018F RO ELRE 45 )
7 RERERE  WARERETEN
ERMEEENERIEHRTHERSE o It
AN+ Fission 2 &5 BlI2019F5 H k11 A
FERK T [BAR+H T & RS M2 T 5
HImEA] RS - MM EHBETRPLS
BEEEERYY  BRE—FSEAHEN -

e 3 s i 75 B

RAFE2019F L s B 1A B g R T
ETT ZWmAY > TERSBERER - ®E
HIAARRRIE TR RN AR 2 EER
HE - FEERBHIXETIHHELHE
TR FIET - 20205 & 77 S AREHEETR B 7%
o - WA B R EIMRER -

RARME S

R AR BIHEIN - RFIFE20195F
RAFABERRAE HEE - ETHE
ZBRHEERRBNRIFEHEN - FHh
BHRE HEBRKEZFHE 2FX
RIME HEZEDIS08EE - BIRHEWA
218.78A BRI * N AB AR EFEIBRAFN
Ebal



Chief Executive Officer’s Statement

Increase in capital operation capacity

To enhance the capital market’s understanding of the industry and
the Company, the Company made systematic improvements in
information disclosure, media publicity, investors and shareholders
communications and industry research in 2019. More investors
began to pay attention and give positive feedback to the niche natural
uranium industry. Despite the general weakness in share prices of
uranium mining companies around the globe and declining natural
uranium spot index, the Company’s stock price performance as a
whole was better than the major industry benchmarking companies.

In 2020, the Company will focus on both operation and development.
Firstly is to secure the stable operation of existing project, including
Semizbay-U meeting its annual production target and maintaining
a very competitive production cost structure; and to explore
ways to achieve sustained growth of Fission’s resources volume,
and formulate clear and practicable subsequent development
strategies. Secondly, we will strive to complete the New Kazakhstan
Uranium Project as soon as possible, and seek suitable investment
opportunities in potential high-quality projects, innovate the uranium
resource development model, and secure sufficient high-quality
natural uranium resources before prices increase. Lastly, we plan
to expand the natural uranium trading business, cultivate new
growth points, broaden trading channels, establish contacts with
more trading partners with an aim to attaining growth in both trade
volume and profit and increase market share. The Company has
full confidence it will achieve a good performance in 2020 and will
continue to create value for Shareholders.

Chief Executive Officer
An Junjing

Beijing, 26 March 2020
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERWR DT

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in natural uranium investment and
trading. As of 31 December 2019, the Group held 49% equity interest
and 49% off-take rights of products in Semizbay-U and 19.88%
equity interest in Fission, as well as wholly-owned subsidiaries CGN
Global, Beijing Sino-Kazakh and CGNM UK Ltd.

In 2019, the Company realised revenue of HK$2,077 million and
HK$160 million in profits attributable to owners of the Company.

ANALYSIS OF BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

The nuclear power market and its industrial development

The year 2019 marks a new start in the development of nuclear
power, with total global nuclear power generation now exceeding
the level prior to the Fukushima accident. China — the globe’s main
engine for the growth in nuclear power — ended a three-year (2016-
2018) period, in which no nuclear power projects were approved.
Several units of the Shandong Rongcheng, Fujian Zhangzhou
and Guangdong Huizhou Taipingling nuclear power projects were
approved for construction, bringing new vigour to global nuclear
power development. In the meanwhile, several US companies applied
to its government to extend the life of nuclear power units in order
to avoid their early retirements. Russia has entered a cooperative
agreement with India which is expected lead to six additional nuclear
power plants constructed in India. Uzbekistan, Saudi Arabia and
other countries have begun preparations for the construction of their
first nuclear power plants. In summary, the trend for nuclear power is
steadily progressing. Furthermore, the 2019 WNA report upgraded
the expected nuclear power installed capacity by 2040, in particular,
significantly raised its forecast in resepct of low growth scenario
from an annual decrease of 0.4% in its previous report to an annual
increase of 0.4%. We remain confident in the development of nuclear
power and the growth of nuclear fuel demand.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The natural uranium market and its industrial development

Throughout 2019, the spot price of natural uranium in the
international market, as quoted by UxC, generally turned negative
after a favourable start, fluctuated between US$24-29/lo and with an
average price of US$25.72/Ib, while the long-term price stablising at
US$32/Ib*. Since the fundamentals of oversupply in the international
natural uranium market remained unchanged, the increase in uranium
prices was restricted. Under the combined effect of uncertainties
such as the pending results of the Section 232 Investigation of the US
and the extension of sanctions exemption for Iran’s nuclear facilities,
most major market players (nuclear power companies, investment
funds, etc.) have adopted a wait-and-see attitude, resulting in lower
spot demand in 2019. As a consequence, the spot transaction
volume has dropped by 40% compared to 2018. The long-term
market transaction volume increased by 6.6% compared to 2018.
Five non-US nuclear power companies purchased 64% of the long-
term market during the year, and it is expected that nuclear power
companies in emerging markets will be the main players in long-term
market transactions in the future.

* Long term price quoted by TradeTech is US$33/Ib.
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Monthly price movement of Natural Uranium in 2019
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Nuclear fuel cycle market and its industry development

The final product of natural uranium for civil use is mainly in the form
of nuclear fuel assembly sold to nuclear power plants. Therefore,
continual attention should be paid to the market of various parts in

BRBHERM S RITRER

RAXRAMMKRERTETERHER
BU MR - Rt ERER
RED(BIEEC - $RME) WIS ERIME

the nuclear fuel industry chain (including conversion and uranium SHERE -

enrichment).

BRERIRE ERE

Whole industrial chain of nuclear fuel cycle

Conversion and
enrichment

HBiLERAE

Uranium resourceg

and trading Radioactive material
HERRES transportation
Component MY EER
processing N
Spent fuel AT @}
reprocessing r—

ZRBREE

o~

of spent fuel

ZRE PR

The international conversion prices have been continously depressed
in the long run. However, due to the combined effect of the closure of
the Metropolis conversion plant and the unsatisfactory slow growing
production of the Orano’s COMURHEX Il conversion plant, a supply
shortage began to appear in the conversion market in 2019, and
spot prices continued to climb. By the end of December 2019, the
purchases from intermediate traders had driven the spot prices and
long-term prices to US$22.25/kgU and US$18/kgU, representing a
year-on-year increase of US$8.75/kgU and US$2.5/kgU, respectively.

CGN Mining Company Limited
PEREXRARAF

Nuclear power
operation

Temporary storage ZEBETT_
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IR EERMEBAERLD B ERE
22.25% 7T,/ kgUM183% 7T, kgU » [EILLIE
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Meanwhile, the enrichment market was also showing signs of
recovery in 2019. Nuclear power companies have locked low-cost
of SWU through spot and mid-term purchases in the past two years,
resulting in a significant reduction of the currently available SWU.
Coupled with the purchases of other market participants, the price of
SWU increased, and the spot price and long-term price of enriched
uranium increased by US$6/SWU and US$6.5/SWU from the
beginning of the year, to US$47/SWU and US$49/SWU respectively,
at the end of the year.

It is noteworthy that although the prices of conversion and SWU are
gradually picking up, as nuclear power companies in China, South
Korea and Japan as well as certain traders and producers still hold
a relatively large amount of stock, the increase in prices would be
restricted.

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE AND ANALYSIS
Uranium mines under production - production of Semizbay-U

Due to the production reduction policy of Kazatomprom, the
production volume of Semizbay Mine and Irkol Mine, owned by
Semizbay-U, continued to be both reduced in 2019. The total
annual production was 960tU, of which Semizbay Mine and Irkol
Mine respectively produced 400tU and 560tU, fulfilling their 2019
production plans. The Company kept its off-take rights in natural
uranium products from Semizbay-U at 588tU after negotiations.

EEENWR DA

EA R - RAAT IS E2019F IR T
ERPR - ZECELBEIMFEDBBIR
BN AEBETE TERAN DB -
ERER A RBNSBEIIAER LD - M
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BYEREA BEREERNREAE
BEFE Y5 B ER63E T, SWUFB.5%
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During the Reporting Period, Semizbay Mine opened up three new
faultblocks with 316 boreholes drilled and approximately 546tU
reserves expanded; and Irkol Mine opened up seven new faultblocks
with 333 boreholes drilled and approximately 573tU reserves
expanded. The accumulated exploration expenses and total mining
production cost of the two mines during the Reporting Period were
2.81 billion tenge (equivalent to approximately HK$57.7 million) and
15.25 billion tenge (equivalent to approximately HK$313.19 million),
respectively.

As at 31 December 2019, the uranium reserves of Semizbay-U were
as follows:

Average Grade

Ty ghL
tU
A 5k

Uranium mine project pending for development - exploration
by Fission

During the Reporting Period, Fission continued its winter exploration
commenced in 2018, completing 32 drillholes with a total
length of 3,872 meters. The exploration cost was approximately
CA$8.40 million (equivalent to approximately HK$4,826 million).
The exploration achievements during the year include: (a) part of
the inferred resources in R780 area were transferred to indicated
category, thereby increasing the mineable reserves of the mine and
improving the project’s economical feasibility; (b) further identified
the geoengineering and exploitation conditions of the deposit
development through a series of additional geological studies,
and created a basis for the selection of mining methods and the
reasonable design of a tailing storage facility in the PLS Project
feasibility study. Fission released a pre-feasibility study report of open
pit/underground hybrid operation of the PLS Project in May 2019,
which indicated total project resources of approximately 62,034t U,O,
with an average grade of 1.64%, total reserves of 41,062t U,O, with
a hydrometallurgical recovery rate of 96.7%, and a total investment in
mine construction of CA$1,498 million. Based on the “selling price at
US$50 per pound of U,0,, exchange rate at CA$1/US$0.75, discount
rate at 8%” model hypothesis, the production cost of PLS Project is
US$6.77 per pound of U,O,, the internal rate of return is 21%, net
present value is CA$132 million, and the project payback period is 2.3
years.

CGN Mining Company Limited
PEREXRARAF
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In order to further improve the economical fesibility of the project,
reduce investment in mining construction and shorten the
construction period, Fission commissioned a third-party technical
adviser to conduct a pre-feasibility study on its underground-only
mining method in July 2019. On 7 November 2019, Fission officially
released the pre-feasibility study report on the underground-only
mining method of the PLS Project. Compared with the pre-feasibility
study results of open pit/underground hybrid mining released in May,
1) capital expenditure decreased from CA$1,498 million to CA$1,177
million and the mine construction period was reduced from four to
three years; 2) geological reserves decreased from 41,062t U,O, to
36,923t U,0, and the mine life decreased from eight to seven years;
3) unit operating cost slightly increased from US$6.77 per pound of
U,0, to US$7.18 per pound of U,0,;
34%, net present value was CA$133 million, and the project payback
period was 2.2 years. The two pre-feasibility study reports indicated

4) the internal rate of return was

that the project mining methods can be flexible and the underground-
only mining method has potential advantages, which provide a good
foundation for future feasibility studies of the PLS Project.

EEENWR DA

RE—SRSEA LB  BREESZIKE
I HEAE e LAFRE - 20194E7 B » Fission™
AIEEE = A RMEREE 2 TRES
EFRTERIATIERF - 2019511 A7H -
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ManagLeanent Discussion and Analysis
BEENWE DM

The table below presents a comparision of main economic indicators TEAPLSIER ZX+i THRKERMT
in the pre-feasibility study reports on the PLS Project’s open pit/ FERTE R 3RS = BB RIZ St
underground hybrid mining and underground-only mining:

Open pit/underground Underground-

Economic indicators hybrid operation only mining
RBEZR EX+ih TESBIR 2 1ith T B ER

Total reserves (tU,0O,)

BFEU,0) 41,062 36,923
Annual production (tU,O,) 6,500 for the first six 5,900 for the first five
FEE(U,0,) years and 1,600 for the years and 3,000 for the

following two years following two years

HI64E6,500 © 241,600  AI555,900 © 1£243,000
Hydrometallurgicall recovery rate (%)
K78 BIECE (%) 96.7 96.8

Total investment in mining construction (CA$ billion)
R RIRE (BrT) 14.98 11.77

Mine construction period (years)

PR EA (FF) 4 3
Mine life (years) 8 (six years by open pit
®’LEa (F) method and two years by

underground method)

8(6FERER - 26 HER) 7

Unit operating cost (US$/pound)
BRIBERA (T B 6.77 7.18

Internal rate of return (%)
B 2 2 (%) 21 34

Net present value (CA$ billion, discount rate of 8%)
FREEIT - FIRE=8%) 1.32 1.33

Note: Assuming natural uranium selling price at US$50 per pound and CA$1=US$0.75
o BERRAMEEASESOETLRIMIT=075%T

1 8 CGN Mining Company Limited
PEREXRARAF



Management Discussion and Analysis

During the Reporting Period, the Company reviewed and expressed
its technical comments on the two pre-feasibility study reports
released by Fission on the open pit/underground hybrid mining
plan and underground-only mining plan for the PLS Project. Based
on adequate communication with its directors, the Company also
conducted special studies on Fission’s subsequent operating
strategies.

Natural uranium trading business

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group realised revenue
of HK$2,073 million from natural uranium trading.

Trading revenue from sales of natural uranium products from mines
owned by Semizbay-U was HK$377 million, representing an increase
of 5% compared to 2018 (2018: HK$360 million). Pursuant to the
Former Sales Framework Agreements, natural uranium transactions
between the Company and CGNPC-URC Group were conducted
under a pricing mechanism of referencing to the long-term price
index of natural uranium published by third-party index agencies with
a floor price and a ceiling price. During the Reporting Period, all the
Company’s off-take of natural uranium products from Semizbay-U
were sold to CGNPC-URC Group. Based on the stable long-term
cooperation between the parties, the Company maintained a good
relationship with this major customer.

During the Reporting Period, CGN Global delivered a total 8.08 million
Ibs of natural uranium and realised trading revenue of US$219 million,
with cost of sales of US$211 million and realised profit of US$1.93
million. Despite the sluggish natural uranium market, CGN Global
made an active effort to grasp the short window of opportunities
and successfully realised significant increases in delivery volume and
trading revenue as compared to 2018.

EEENWR DA
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PLSIER M TEEBEXMEHRITREL DM
THRAR TG TE R RS HET T
B - WiIRHEMTESR « o - mHE
SERDBREMER L - EFission A FIH
BBIRERERR T ZEMRE -

HE2019F12A31H » REEFTIR XA
$HE SE2,073E BB

REHRRBEBRLNRAMERIEE
ME S AITTEE BT - B2018F LIk
5% (20184 : 360B & B IT) © RIBFRH
BIERGZ  AEEEPEZHMETRE
EFRENRABESRALEE=HEH
B AR R AR EABISIEE - WA
HIBREREREES - EHARE 2IH
HARBERLNRAAMEREBHEELS
PEZMERREER - ENEHRBEE
WElE RAREE—FTERFPHERR
4F °

WEERN  PEZEEEE QAN
KAMBOSER:  BEHRIHEWA2198 8
ET HERAAEITEEET  WEIR

Kk - B BB HE A R BIBTRRE
5 EREMSHE  BREFHHER
18 - HEWKAR2018F BB AR E 15
£ o

Annual Report 2019
“E-NEFFR

19



Management Discussion and Analysis
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Developing New Projects

The New Kazakhstan Uranium Project has been the key work of
the Company for these two years. During the Reporting Period,
the Company continued to proceed with the project and launched
multiple rounds of negotiations with its Kazakhstan partners. Due
to the disagreement between two parties on some specific issues,
progress of the New Kazakhstan Uranium Project was behind the
original schedule. However, the Company and Kazatomprom have
reached an agreement on an updated timetable and agreed to work
together to push forward the project. Meanwhile, the Company also
completed a comprehensive due diligence on the project during the
Reporting Period, and reached a positive conclusion. The project is
still under negotiations and hopefully to be launched in 2020.

Maintenance of Investor Relationship

To enhance its communications with Shareholders and the capital
market, during the Reporting Period, the Company systematically
optimised its investor relationship management, information
disclosure, market promotion and industry research, and achieved
satisfactory results. Notwithstanding a generally weak performance
in the share prices of uranium mining companies around the globe
and the decline of the natural uranium spot index by 13.08% over the
same period, the Company’s stock performace was acceptable, and
the year-end closing price was 29.79% higher than that of the first
business day of 2019.

FrIR B B%

MEFTHRER SARAOMFNERT
1E o EHAN - ANQBHE ) HERS T 3 TE
HA - XERTAEBRHER T ZWmakH
R - mRES AR ARMELFED
I - MR FTHAETR B AR R R A AT
B - BARRRERRTERE RO
FRIER—E - WAGEHERNE - pEoh - K
RAERBEHAH B HEEREE T2
EEBAL - WESERSR ° B ATAR
BARANEETTH - 2020F B L& -

REEBFRE
AR R M EATIBN - MEH
W RAAREREEBEREE - FEH#
B mBEE - TEAESIERSEL
HITTEE  RIWITIERSRESR - &
E2EIBEAR L ERERE - KRR
EIEHMFHTKI3.08%MAEET » &
NEIREFRIRWEA - FRKEER20195F
F1REREZERIEFA29.79% ©

PEZEHEO1164. HK)EIEE R R AAHREERNEFHERER
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Relative Performance of Share Price of CGN Mining (01164.HK), HSI and the Spot Price of
Natural Uranium from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019
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During the Reporting Period, the Company made several attempts
to broaden its channels of direct communication and liaison with
Shareholders. The key tasks during the year were as follows:

Channels
RE

Annual general meeting

REFBFRE

Extraordinary general meetings

RERFRARE

Annual results presentation and interim results
presentation
FEXEBRMERPPXERHS
The management and persons in charge of the
Company’s main business department were
present

RAEEERTIEXEBHMBEALALE

EEENWR DA

BEHA  ARRERRERRNERE
BEBGAOREBIEMRTEZEARS
N BFERHTEET

Key points
=g

Approved seven ordinary resolutions on 14 June
6A14BHETEEBAZEER

Approved the acquisition of 100% equity interest of
CGN Global on 15 January

1 A15 B #E KB BAZBIRR 5 E 2 R1100% 42 0
Approved the New Sales Framework Agreement, the
New Financial Services Framework Agreement and
the Sales and Purchase Agreement of Husab Uranium
Concentrates on 27 September
9R 27 B LRI EAE IR ok
FOIL R A 8 B B thide

IS RIS IE R ek

Convened annual results presentation at Renaissance
Harbour View Hotel on 27 March, with the attendance
of 13 invited institutional investors and analysts
SR2TENEBEERBEARFEXEEME - 134
RERIBIREE ROITAIE S

Convened interim results presentation at JW Marriott
Hotel on 30 August, with the attendance of 38 invited
institutional investors and analysts
8ABERIWESBEE BRPEXEEME - 388X
BREBREEROTAES
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Channels

RE

Investor seminars

REEMTE
Group discussion between potential investors and
analysts

S AREE RAMENETT/ AR

Industry summit

TEEE
The Company’s CFO and investor relations team
were present

RAERMGE MREER R

CGN Mining Company Limited
PEREXRARAF

Key points
=2H

Held investors’ and analysts’ breakfast meeting in

the Company’s conference room in May, with the
attendance of 11 invited institutional investors and
analysts
SAEARNRIERERTREELDIMNEES - 1
EXBEIBREE ROFANEE

The investor relations team participated in the investor
strategy meeting of Northeast Securities in July
TARBER 2 MR EFREERKES

The investor relations team participated in the investor
strategy meetings of Haitong Securities in July,
September and October

79 - 10AKRBER2INEREFREERRS
The investor relations team participated in the investor
strategy meeting of Everbright Securities in September
IARBER 2RI A REERKS

The investor relations team participated in face-to-
face communications about Hong Kong stock held by
Quanding in September

IAKREEG 2 N2 REERmE ™

Attended “121 Mining” meeting and gave a keynote
speech

290121 Mining & & EE )R E

Attended China Mining Congress and Expo and gave
a keynote speech

2N BEEREEAG W IEEEEA

Attended China Investment Summit and gave a
keynote speech

2P EIRE e W IEE RS
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Channels

RE

Roadshow activities

BREEE
One-to-one communications between potential
investors and analysts
HEBMREERAONEET1EH1ER
Regular reports and announcements
EHRER NS

Company websites
AT L

Official Company We Media channel
REAEFHEERE
Offical WeChat account, Futu, Tonghuashun and
Snowball website accounts
EAMER - B - BEIERSIRERSR

Official Company e-mail
AREFEAE
Receives investor enquiries and feedback

BYREEFHARERRE

EEENWR DA

Key points
B

Completed 184 one-to-one communications
throughout the year

2EERK184K1 188

Released 21 announcements and two regular reports
during the year

PEEMAMDRERMDERRE

Two voluntary disclosure announcemnets

Ho 2y BREEAS

Company news and industry information
REIBRERITEEM

Policies and codes

B K sp Rl

Financial information and investors’ contact
MIEER RIREEBHR TR

Briefing information for analysts

TR WA

Successively created at the end of 2019

2019F KB4 1B

By email: Ir.cgnmc@cgnpc.com.cn
BEL : Ir.cgnmc@cgnpe.com.cn
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Results achieved by the investor relations team in 2019:
2019 R B EVS A T THERCR -

North Shore Global Uranium Mining
Index, a natural uranium investment
index, included the Company as
one of its constituents

KA E HEEINorth Shore Global
Uranium Mining Indexi$ < 2 B4 8%
REEBOKRSRZ —

Chen Deshao, the Company’s chief
financial officer, was awarded the
annual “Best CFO Award” of the 4th
Golden Hong Kong Equities Grand
Award

REMBERERITERSEIEE NS
[& B E [ HECFOE]

BUSINESS PROSPECTS
BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT OUTLOOK

Nuclear power market forecast

For the first time since 2011, WNA has raised its expectations for
future nuclear power and natural uranium demand — indicating the
improving in global nuclear power development. China has broken
the “zero approval of nuclear power project situation”, with four to
six new power units being expected to be approved annually in the
future. Japan will continue to pursue its goal of “recovering nuclear
power to 20% to 22% by 2030”. France’s target of 50% nuclear
decommissioning has been delayed to 2030-2035. In the US, with
increased subsidies for nuclear energy in the 2020 fiscal budget,
extensions of lifetime for some nuclear power units are expected
to be approved. Generally speaking, nuclear power development
is expected to slow down in the European Union, remain stable in
North America, and achieve faster growth in East Asia and related
regions, marking a gradual shift of the centre of global nuclear power
development to Asia.

Natural uranium market forecast

With references to the analyses and forecasts of major international
institutions, the Company estimated that the fundamental oversupply
situation in the natural uranium market in the next few years will stay
unchanged. The market will slowly consume inventories, and the
price will increase slightly in the long run. In such environment, the
Company will take measures such as controlling production costs
and strengthening risk control to ensure stable operation.

CGN Mining Company Limited
PEREXRARAF

/

During the Reporting Period, five new
additional seller institution published
research reports on the Company
WEHAN - RS RFAMBERT
HARRWARIERSE

The investor relations team won the “Best
Investor Relations Team” award at the
“2019 China Enterprises Management
Awards Ceremony” jointly organized by
the Hong Kong International Investment
Association, Porda Havas International
Finance Communications Group and
AMO Group

EEBRRIRELS  BEEERKR
BHSEMEM - AMO & EBHS B
[2019 1 B { AR AR HEAE | e SR

[ EREERRERK A

The Company was awarded the “Best Resources and Energy
Company Award” from the 2019 Golden Hong Kong Stocks
Annual Ceremony jointly organized by Zhitong Finance and
RoyalFlush Finance
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Nuclear fuel cycle market and industry analysis

As far as the conversion market is concerned, the price increase in
the short term is largely determined by the urgency of conversion
purchases by nuclear power companies. In the medium and long
term, as the output of the COMURHEX Il conversion plant increases
and Metropolis conversion plant restarts its production, the
conversion price will stabilise.

The uranium enrichment market faces larger uncertainties. The
quota provision that Russia is allowed to export nuclear fuel of not
more than 20% of the annual demand of the US under the US-
Russia suspension agreement will expire in 2020. The current tension
between the US and Russia makes it unclear whether the agreement
will be extended, and if so, how the quota may be adjusted and what
impact this, which will have significant impact on the enrichment price
and remains to be seen.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT OUTLOOK
Operation of Semizbay-U, management and control of Fission

The Company will continue to participate in the operation
management of Semizbay-U in 2020 to ensure the completion of
its annual production, cost control target and the delivery of its
committed offtake. Meanwhile, the Company will strengthen control
on Semizbay-U’s expenses through participation in board meetings
and decision-making to ensure that the annual expenditure budget
is not exceeded. Base on effective corporate governance and the
management through expatriate team, the Company is able to
exert its continuous influence on the finance, mining production
and the operation of Semizbay-U to ensure its safe production
and completion of the production plan. Additionally, in 2020, the
Company will actively advocate the adoption of new mine production
processes and technologies as well as mine digitalization as to
strengthen automated management, and procure Semizbay-U to
devote more effort in improving its resources/reserves in 2020 to
support its sustainable development.

EEENWR DA

PR 1 5 BT H

HE(TIEME - RARERKREBA N
AIZE FHZESEHE(LREN AN
RIE o MERHIRE - BEECOMURHEX Il
2 ( b iR 2= & 1 0 A N2 Metropolis# b i 18
E BERESBRET -

BHERTIS TR ARNEE - ZHP IE1HE
o BT MER L OB BB E
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IEH - BLREASRNIEAR - YR EERE
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As to Fission, the Company will participate in and put impact on its
decision-making of key issues through being its directors and will
gradually strengthen the control over its technology and business
management. In 2020, the Company will continue to urge Fission
to complete the PLS Project feasibility study as planned and send
personnel for technical exchanges with Fission, strengthen the review
on the feasibility study report and formulate subsequent development
plans for the PLS Project that fit market conditions.

Expanding trade business proactively

The Group will strengthen business contacts with end-customers
such as nuclear power plant owners, participate in international
market bidding proactively, strengthen its analyses of market
conditions and counterparty behaviours, seize market opportunities,
develop new business models and explore new trading business
opportunities to ensure the achievement of annual trade targets.

Promoting the acquisition of new projects

While moving forward of the New Kazakhstan Uranium Project in
2020, the Company will also continue to identify and track other
overseas high-quality and low-cost uranium resources projects,
paying special attention to on low-cost projects such as in-situ
leachable sandstone uranium mines in Central Asia, and approach
potential targets at appropriate timing. At the same time, the
Company will seek to establish strategic cooperation relationships
with internationally renowned uranium producers and traders, and
study the feasibility of jointly developing uranium mine projects in
different modes.

Enhancing investor relationship

In 2020, the Company will continue to put efforts in optimising
investor relationships, presenting good corporate image and improve
investors’ recognition of the Company, further enhancing investors
on communications through various channels and interacting with
more market participants, Additionally, it will reasonably strengthen
voluntary disclosure, striving for more transparent disclosure of
information.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Strengthening internal control

In 2020, the Company will continue to improve its internal
control system, incorporate internal control requirements into the
management procedure documents, and strengthen supervision of
systems implementation to reduce internal control risks.

Improving incentive system

To establish a sound long-term incentive and restraint mechanism
and support high quality development, the Company is examining
the possibility of implementing a mid- and long-term incentive
system based on its existing system, which aims to link the growth
of employees with the development of the Company, encourage
employees to contribute to the Company wholeheartedly, and
stimulate overall corporate vitality.

RISK IDENTIFICATION AND MANAGEMENT

Upon systematic analysis, the Company is subject to the following
three main risks in 2020:

International natural uranium trade risks

The uncertain price trend of natural uranium and the complexity of
international trade lead to certain risks in the development of the
international uranium trade. These include less-than-expected profit
or even loss due to fluctuations in the price of natural uranium, breach
of contract by the counter party and failure to recover receivables.

To reduce risks in natural uranium trading, the Company has taken
measures to strengthen trade risk management and control. Firstly,
establish a professional team to closely track and analyse global
nuclear power development trends, the production movement of
uranium mines and changes of the supply and demand in natural
uranium, strengthen the ability on prediction of uranium price, and
grasp market opportunities to purchase natural uranium at a lower
cost. Secondly, cooperate with international credit rating institutions
to comprehensively monitor the qualifications and performance
capabilities of counterparties and require those counterparties
with lower credit ratings to provide performance guarantees or
prepayments to reduce trade risks. Thirdly, continue to strengthen
internal management by improving trade exposure authorisation
mechanism, a prevention and control system of counter party
default risks and an information system to ensure that trade risks are
controllable.

EEENWR DA
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Financial security risks

Currently, the price of international natural uranium remains low.
However, when taking into account the global nuclear power demand
gap and inventory, it is expected that prices will reverse in the
medium and long term, and rare opportunities occur for investments
in uranium resources globally. Under these circumstances, the
Company will continuously track high-quality and high-grade
uranium mine projects and conduct mergers and acquisitions when
appropriate. Considering that the self-owned capital can hardly meet
the mid- and long-term merger and acquisition requirements, the
Company will formulate a sound fund and financing plan based on a
reasonable assessment of the economic and feasibility of potential
projects, and introduce new strategic cooperation partners as
appropriate to jointly develop and operate projects.

International operation risks

The business and projects of the Company are distributed in
Kazakhstan, Canada, the UK and other countries. The uncertainties of
the operating environment (political and economic situations, policies
and regulations) in such countries and changes in the international
situation such as Sino-US economic and trade frictions, may create
higher risks for the Company’s operations. Therefore, the Company
has established a regular monitoring mechanism for the operating
environments of overseas investment projects to track changes in
the operating environments of Kazakhstan, Canada and the UK in a
timely manner. An analysis report will be generated on major changes
at the first instant and notify management and the Board in a timely
manner so that an effective and scientific response measure can be
taken.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE AND ANALYSIS

Financial performance reflects the operation performance of the
Group throughout the year. By paying attention to changes in
financial indicators, business development of the Group can be
comprehensively understood.

OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS AND POSITION

Major Financial Indicators

BEEFWR DT

BBRBAR DT

MBRBRERRAEEZFELER B
BRI BIERED - SRR EEEAE
BRI EEAMN

MBEERMRTUE
TEHBIER

Profitability indicators EFENIERZ

Gross profit margin (%)’ EFIZE(%)!

EBITDA (HK$ million)? EBITDA(B &B7T)?
EBITDA/Revenue (%) EBITDA /& % 58 LL (%)
Net profit margin(%)* F o M (%)t

Operation ability indicator BERIER

Trade receivables cycle — average
(Days)®
Inventory cycle — average (Days)®

MR EHA — 3 (R)°

FERES—F5(R)°

Investment return indicators REEREEZ

Return on equity (%) 1 725 [0 3% 2R (%)

Profit attributable to owners of the  ZRA BB AT
Company to revenue ratio (%)° B S SERA LY s

Return on assets (%)° 484 e O] 3R K (%)°

Repayment ability indicators EEELEE

Bank balances and cash (HK$ million) $R174571F IE £ (B&EHBTT)
EREEFEEESBL)

Net tangible assets (HK$ million)©

2018
20184

(Restated)
(g E5)

6.93 8.11
199.14 174.41
9.59 10.73
7.71 7.51
17 21
200 181
8.40 6.62
7.71 7.51
5.55 4.40
676.79 1,123.06
1,940.41 1,864.42
59.21 43.45

Gearing ratio (%) BEREFEE )"
1. Difference between revenue and cost of sales divided by revenue multiplied by
100%.
2. The sum of profit before tax, finance costs, depreciation of right-of-use assets

and depreciation of property, plant and equipment, if any.

3. The sum of profit before tax, finance costs, depreciation of right-of use assets
and depreciation of property, plant and equipment, if any, divided by revenue

multiplied by 100%.

4, Profit for the year divided by revenue multiplied by 100%.

EEFAHENAZERIAEEFERN
100% °

TATEF - MEKAN - FREEENERY
¥ BEREHTEZRM@AE) -

TATEF - MEKAZE - ERAEEENE
EWE - BEREBETE(EB) 2 FBRAE
HEEHFELA100% °

v FIBR LA & S R A TR LA100% ©
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5. Average receivables (i.e the arithmetic average of the beginning and the end of 5. 9 MR R (B3RS BRI AR E 1T ()
the Reporting Period) divided by average daily sales (revenue divided by 360 BRIASEYS A HERE (B 2R AS60K) ©
days).

6. Average inventories (i.e the arithmetic average of the beginning and the end 6. EHEE BISREPYEREMNMFHEE) BRI
of the Reporting Period) divided by average daily costs (costs divided by 360 9 B SHER A GHE KRR LA360K) ©
days).

7. Profit attributable to owners of the Company divided by total average equity (i.e 7. R BHEA AR FIBR A i s (B 2R
the arithmetic average of the beginning and the end of the Reporting Period) & BV B R BT T E) LB TRA100% °

multiplied by 100%.

8. Profit attributable to owners of the Company divided by the revenue multiplied 8. RRRHEE AN GFIBR A E 25 HRN
by 100%. 100% -

9. Profit attributable to owners of the Company divided by total average assets (i.e 9. AR EEA ARG FIBR A5 & = (BNSR
the arithmetic average of the beginning and the end of the Reporting Period) S H R BT FI9(E) R EE B TR A100% ©

multiplied by 100%.

10. Interests of the Shareholders less intangible assets, net. 10. RSN EEEERFE -

11. Total debt divided by total equity multiplied by 100%. 11. EBETER AR LRAETRLA100% ©
. . G

Financial results b E

The profit of the Company of 2019 were HK$160 million, representing KAFI019FE =M A160E BB @ &

an increase of 31% as compared to 2018. 2018F AL 18 &31% °
REVENUE R
For the year ended
31 December Movements
BZ12831HLEFE g-k-)
Increase/ Increase/
2019 2018  (Decrease) (Decrease)
20194 20184 #/(Rd) i/ (§)
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 %
FTET FET FEx Aot
(RESEEN)!
(F=E71))
Natural uranium trading RAME S 2,073,449 1,623,859 449,590 28
Property investment MERE 3,239 2,115 1,124 53
Total revenue BEEE 2,076,688 1,625,974 450,714 28
30 CGN Mining Company Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The revenue of the Group was HK$2,077 million, representing
an increase of 28% as compared to that of HK$1,626 million in
2018, primarily because CGN Global aggressively expanded the
global market and achieved a significant increase in sales volume
and trading revenue of natural uranium as compared with the
corresponding period in 2018.

Cost of sales

BEEFWR DT

NEMAEEA2,077TEEBT 82018
F /1,626 8 BB TIEMN28% © EEFI
EPEZBEHEE QRN NFARER

% RINShIEE gﬂfﬁ%%/\fzmsﬁﬂ
HAEKNEER -

For the year ended

31 December Movements
BEZ12A31HILLEE 25
Increase/ Increase/
2019 2018  (Decrease) (Decrease)
20195 2018%F 10,/ (Ri4) &,/ (BL)
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 %
FTET THET FEx BAL
(RENEIET)!
(F=E71))
Natural uranium trading cost K ASE 5 A 1,932,783 1,494,150 438,633 29
Property investment MERE = = =
Total cost of sales HERREE 1,932,783 1,494,150 438,633 29

The cost of sales of the Group was HK$1,933 million, representing
an increase of 29% as compared to that of HK$1,494 million in 2018,
primarily because CGN Global aggressively expanded the global
market and achieved a significant increase in the sales volume and
cost of sales of natural uranium as compared with the corresponding
period in 2018.

Gross profit and gross profit margin of natural uranium trading

Due to the increase on the sales volume of CGN Global, the Group
recorded a gross profit of natural uranium trading of HK$141 million,
representing an increase of 8% as compared to that of HK$130
million in 2018, and the gross profit margin decreased from 8% in
2018 to 7% in 2019.

Other operating income

The other operating income of the Group was HK$20 million,
representing a decrease of 31% as compared to that of HK$29 million
in 2018, mainly due to the significant decrease in fund deposited
in CGNPC Huahseng through optimising the internal utilisation of
financial resources of the Group, resulting in decrease in the interest
income dramatically.

AEBHEEKRKAE1,033FEET &
2018%F HY1,494 85 BB TTIE IN29% « £ &
R EZEREE QTR NFHRBEE
M -+ KAHIHE S ERAE2018F
BB KB K -

RRBMEZENREFR

XHEZBEREE AREEEL NN
£ KEEBERRAMEZEAN1418H
EABIT 0 B2018F /M 130E & B Tig i
8% * EFIEH2018F 8% FfEE2019
FHT7% °

"I

m

L&A

AEFEMGERAB20EETTETT © &
2018FH20B EBA LA L31% + TER
RAEAREBEECESAIER - (EmBHK
GHRRPEZERESRERLD - FF)
BIRABEKIEE TBE -

FI
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Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses amounted to HK$8 million,
representing a decrease of 20% as compared to that of HK$10
million in 2018, mainly due to the Group’s increased effort on the
expenditure control.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses of the Group were HK$37 million,
representing a decrease of 14% as compared to that of HK$43 million
in 2018, mainly due to stronger efforts were made on implementing
“cost reduction and efficiency improvement” measures and tightening
the expenditure control.

Share of results of a joint venture

The joint venture of the Company is Semizbay-U. The share of results
of a joint venture was HK$65 million, representing an increase of
25% as compared to that of HK$52 million in 2018, mainly due to
devaluation of Kazakhstan currency and the enhanced cost control of
Semizbay-U.

Share of results of an associate

The associate of the Company is Fission. The share of results of
an associate was HK$12 million, which includes share of loss for
the Reporting Period of HK$6 million and the reversal of long-term
investment impairment of HK$18 million.

During the Reporting Period, part of the share options granted by
Fission to its directors and employees were exercised and 605,448
ordinary shares were issued. As a result, the equity interests in Fission
held by the Company on 31 December 2019 decreased to 19.88%
(81 December 2018: 19.90%).

Finance costs

The finance costs of the Group was HK$20 million, which was
decreased by 37.5% as compared to the restated finance cost
of HK$32 million in 2018, mainly due to the decrease in interest
expenses through optimising the utilisation of financial resources of
the Group.

Income tax expenses

Income tax expense of the Group was HK$16 million, representing a
decrease of 11% as compared to that of HK$18 million in 2018.

CGN Mining Company Limited
hERIEE AR AR

SHERDHMAX
HENDHMAX /8B EETT - 20184
MW10BE&EBTTHD T20%  TBRARN
SEANEHIERH

THRX

REBTHAXAITEETT  K20184F
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z]g o
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Profit for the year

The profit of the Group in 2019 was HK$160 million, representing an
increase of 31% as compared to the same period in 2018, mainly
due to an increase of gross profits, the significant growth in share of
results of the joint venture and the significant decrease in operating
expenditures as compared to 2018.

ASSETS CONDITION AND ANALYSIS

Total Assets

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s total assets amounted to
HK$3,095 million, representing an increase of HK$420 million as
compared to HK$2,675 million as at 31 December 2018, mainly due
to the significant increase in natural uranium inventories of the Group.

Total Liabilities

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s total liabilities amounted to
HK$1,151 million, representing an increase of 42% as compared to
31 December 2018, mainly due to the increase of loan from a fellow
subsidiary.

Net current Assets

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s net current assets was
HK$1,766 million, representing an increase of 32% as compared
to HK$1,341 million as at 31 December 2018, mainly due to the
significant increase of inventory and trade receivables.

Current Assets

BEEFWR DT

FREER

AEE019FFEHEFA1608 EBTT -
H2018FERHERI1% - TERHAKRF
tb2018F R EFIIE I - BIE—FEEE
EFEE NI R K EELLEMT KRR

9\0

BEMRR D

BEAE

MR2019F12A31 8 » AEBEERE

3,095EB/AE T #2018F12A31H
2,675BEBILALIERI20BES T £

BERE

MR2019F12A31H » AEEEBEFERE
1,151 5 BB T » B2018F12 A31 HIEHN
42%  FEREZKE —HRRZHBAR]
BRI -

RBEEFE

MR2019F12A31H ' AEBREBEEF
541,766 A &5 7T &2018F12A31HH
1,341 BEBLEING2%  TERERTF
&R EBER TN IRIE 0 o

RBEE

Percentage
As at 31 December Movements change
M2A31H 28 23E5k
Increase/ Increase/
2019 2018  (Decrease) (Decrease)
20194 20185 #tn/(R2) &,/ (HD)
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 %
THERT FHET THERT Bok
(RENEET)!
(&7
Inventories FE 1,441,980 703,300 738,680 105
Trade and other receivables R AR50 B E At FE R IE 126,706 76,483 50,223 66
Amount due from an JE U — ) AR X I 3RIE
intermediate holding
company 3,875 DY) (1,500) (28)
Income tax recoverable AU E TS TR 1,737 8,728 (6,991) (80)
Bank balances and cash RITRGERRE 676,793 1,123,056 (446,263) (40)
Total current assets RBEEARE 2,251,091 1,916,942 334,149 17
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As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s current assets was HK$2,251
million, representing an increase of HK$334 million as compared
to 2018, which was mainly due to the significant increase in natural
urarium inventories of the Group.

As at 31 December 2019, the aggregate amount of bank
balances and cash of the Group was approximately HK$677
million representing a decrease of HK$446 million year-on-year,
among which approximately 32% (31 December 2018: 30%)
was denominated in HKD, 67% (31 December 2018: 68%) was
denominated in USD, and 1% (31 December 2018: 2%) was
denominated in RMB.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not have any bank deposits
and cash pledged to any banks (31 December 2018: Nil).

As at 31 December 2019, the proportion of current assets of the
Group over total assets was 73% (31 December 2018: 72%), and the
proportion of bank balances and cash over total assets was 22% (31
December 2018: 42%).

Non-current Assets

R2019F12A31H » REBREBEES
2251EEE L BW2018F R334 8
B FBRABAEBRAMTFEAIREG
g °

MR2019F 12 A31H « REBEHEAE MRTT
EERREESHNVeT7EEBE T [
tE T R446 B EBETT - P %32% (2018
F12A318 : 30%) BEIL ' 467%
(20185 12A31H : 68%) BETT * £1%
(2018512 A31H : 2%) AARKE -

MR2019F12A31H » AEER G I MR
1TRFE RIS B IRTT (2018F 12 A 31
B &) -

R2019F12A318 @ AEBRBEELE
EREMNEHA73% (201812318 :
72%) WITHEEFERBSHEELENLL
1522% (2018F12 A31H : 42%) °

FRBEE

Percentage
As at 31 December Movements change
R12A31H 28 LBEIL
Increase/ Increase/
2019 2018  (Decrease) (Decrease)
20194 20185 i/ (R2) #in/ (HD)
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 %
FTHET TAT FHERT Bt
(RESEEN)!
(K =51)
Property, plant and equipment  #)%  BiE &% 160 14,466 (14,306) (99)
Right-of-use assets HREEE 3,836 = 3,836 N/ATEA
Investment properties BEME 48,595 30,359 18,236 60
Interest in a joint venture R—faEhE 2 #ER 237,775 190,706 47,069 25
Interest in an associate R—EBE QR 2 ERE 553,522 521,538 31,984 6
Deferred tax assets EERIEEE - 496 (496) (100)
Rental deposits HE%ES 387 - 387 N/ATER
Total non-current assets ~ FRBEELE 844,275 757,565 86,710 11

As at 31 December 2019, the non-current assets of the Group were
HK$844 million, representing an increase of 11% year-on-year, due

to the increase in interests in a joint venture and an associate.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Current Liabilities

BEEFWR DT

RBRE

Percentage
As at 31 December Movements change
MW12831H BEH BEHALL
Increase/ Increase/
2019 2018  (Decrease) (Decrease)
20195 2018%F i/ (R4) i/ (hD)
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 %
FTExT FHET FEx
(RESEIE)!
(C=7))
Trade and other payables FERTBR R R E AP 36,382 30,476 5,906 19
Loans from a fellow subsidiary K& —E[E ZME QA2 ER 422,559 527,560 (105,001) (20)
Lease liabilities HEARE 1,703 - 1,703 N/A FEHR
Amount due to an intermediate J&{~— i fEER A B F0R
holding company 8,373 6,132 2,241 37
Amount due to a joint venture  JEfRf—FE A & ¥ 708 5,513 5,513 = =
Amounts due to fellow N RZRNBRRIFIE
subsidiaries 1,421 1,668 (247) (15)
Income tax payable e TS TR 9,555 4,246 5,309 125
Total current liabilities RBaEAE 485,506 575,595 (90,089) (16)

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s current liabilities were HK$486
million, representing a decrease of 16% as compared to 2018, mainly
due to the decrease in short-term external loans through optimising
the utilisation of financial resources of the Group.

Non-current liabilities

M2019F12A31H » "EEREBAREA
486 A EHETT * M2018E N [£16% » T 2
EAANEBECESFER  BRINBREEH
BRRL -

FRBEE

Percentage
As at 31 December Movements change
M12A31H 25 SIAIKL
Increase/ Increase/
2019 2018  (Decrease) (Decrease)
20194 20184 1/ (R4) B/ (D)
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FTHET FAT THET
(RESEIET)!
(K =71)
Deferred tax liabilities RERIBEE 19,104 18,126 978 5
Loans from a fellow subsidiary K& —ERE B R R 2 ER 644,494 216,368 428,126 198
Lease liabilities HEEE 2,021 = 2,021 N/ATEA
Total non-current liability ~ FRBEBEHAE 665,619 234,494 431,125 184

As at 31 December 2019, the non-current liabilities of the Group were
HK$666 million, representing an increase of 184% as compared to
2018, primarily due to the increase in long term loans from a fellow
subsidiary.

M2019F 128310 AEEFERHE
fEABB6HE & /BT * 820184 [/ HJ1E N
184% » TZ2RARKA —ERRMEBA
AIMREAE A -
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BEENWE DM

Total equity AT
Percentage
As at 31 December Movements change
M2H31H 23 23ASL
Increase/ Increase/
2019 2018  (Decrease) (Decrease)
20194 20184 #n/(R4) i,/ (B2)
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FhR FHR FhR
(RESEIE)!
(=71
Share capital [N 66,007 66,007 = =
Reserves G 1,878,234 1,798,411 79,823 4
Total equity A 1,944,241 1,864,418 79,823 4

As at 31 December 2019, total equity of the Group amounted to
HK$1,944 million, representing an increase of 4% year-on-year,
mainly due to the increase of profit during the Reporting Period.

The Group’s gearing ratio (total debt divided by total equity multiplied
by 100%) was 59% (2018: 43%).

Assets and investments

Prior to the Reporting Period, the Company entered into a sale
and purchase agreement with China Uranium Development for
the acquisition of 100% equity interest in CGN Global, which was
completed on 17 January 2019. The consideration of this acquisition
was US$8.55 million in which CGN Global contributed profit of
US$1.93 million in 2019. The Company received a favorable return for
the acquisition.

Save for this transaction and the interests in Semizbay-U and Fission,
the Group did not hold any other significant investment or have any
other major investment, acquisition or disposal during the Reporting
Period.

Investment direction

According to business positioning and development strategy of the
Group, the main investment direction of the Group remains to be
acquiring competitive overseas uranium resource projects with low
cost. The Group will carry out relevant investment activities as and
when appropriate, to laid the foundation of further development of the
Company.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Financial capital

Capital structure

As at 31 December 2019, the Company had a total of 6,600,682,645
ordinary shares in issue (31 December 2018: 6,600,682,645), and the
market value of the Company was approximately HK$2,013 million (31
December 2018: HK$1,580 million).

Liquidity risk and financial resources

The Company adheres to prudent capital and treasury policy and
goals. During the Reporting Period, the Company’s operating fund
was mainly from the cash generated from operating activities and
external borrowings. The capital requirements of the Group mainly
come from the possible acquisition expenses of acquiring natural
uranium resources and funds for operation.

The Group has sufficient financial resources for daily operation and
business and does not have seasonal borrowing demands. If any
suitable acquisition opportunity arises in the future, the Group will
raise funds from diverse financing channels.

The Company’s financing capacity is affected by multiple external
and internal factors. To obtain financing on more favourable terms,
the Company must understand the external financing environment
and adopt a reasonable financing model and strategies based on its
structure of assets and liabilities.

The Company pays close attention to financial market trends,
considers its responses to internal and external financial risks,
formulates reasonable models and strategies to ensure the safety
and economical efficiency of financing, and takes strict management
measures for debt risks to prevent exposure to related risks and to
facilitate the financial health and development of the core business.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERWR DT

Financing model

Given the complex and ever-changing financial market, the Company
has been exploring diverse financing methods and strives to establish
a financing model with combination of short-, medium-and long-term
capital, merged direct and indirect financing and multiple financing
channels to ensure the protection of a stable fund. In the process
of debt financing, the Company has taken a balanced approach to
both cost and safety. The Company is committed to the pursuit of a
competitive financing cost rather than the lowest one to ensure the
security of financing and the quality of service received.

For projects with large capital expenditures and sound expected
returns, the Company will prudently consider using equity financing to
balance risks and enhance Shareholder value.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s development comes with various financial risks, such as
debt risk and exchange rate risks.

Risk management of debt

As at 31 December 2019, the borrowings from a fellow subsidiary of
the Company were HK$1,067 million. The loans were unsecured and
interest bearing ranging from 3.2% to 4.6% per annum.

To manage liquidity risk, the Company closely monitors the cash,
cash equivalents and unutilised credit to ensure sufficient liquidity
for operation and to reduce the effects of cash flow volatility. The
Company’s management also keeps an eye on external borrowing to
ensure a sufficiency of available borrowing credit. As at 31 December
2019, the Company has undrawn borrowing credit of US$522 million
(2018: US$404 million), which can be utilised to provide sufficient
cash for the Group’s operation and to reduce the impact of cash flow
volatility.

Exchange rate risk

The Company’s functional currency is US$. During the Reporting
Period, the Group’s sale and purchase of products were mainly
settled in US$ and RMB (2018: US$ and RMB), while its cash was
mainly denominated in US$ and HK$ (2018: US$ and HK$). Daily
expenses including administrative expenses, sales and distribution
expenses, were mainly settled in US$, HK$ and RMB (corresponding
period of 2018: US$, HK$ and RMB). Loans were all denominated in
US$. The Group was not subject to any material exchange rate risk
during the Reporting Period.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

For exchange rate risk management, the Company aims to control
cost rather than profitability. During the Reporting Period, the Group
had no forward foreign exchange contracts, interests or currency
swaps or other financial derivatives for hedging purposes, and
experienced no significant difficulty or impact on its operation or
liquidity due to exchange rate fluctuation.

CONTINGENCY EVENTS
External guarantees

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any external
guarantee (2018: Nil). The Company did not provide any guarantee to
its subsidiaries or other companies, nor allow subsidiaries to provide
any form of guarantee to any entities or individuals without the
approval of the Company.

Pledge of assets

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any pledge of
assets (2018: Nil).

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities (31 December 2018: Nil).

Legal proceedings

The Company confirms that there was no litigation, and that it was
nor aware of any pending or threatened litigation against it, which had
or could have a material and adverse effect on its financial condition
or operation during the Reporting Period.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Details of changes in accounting policies as required under the
applicable accounting standard are explained in notes 2 and 3 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERRSE

The Company is committed to establishing and fulfilling a good
corporate governance practice and procedures, for ensuring a quality
Board, sound internal control, and transparency and accountability to
all Shareholders in order to enhance credibility and reputation of the
Company. We firmly believe that good corporate governance practice
can earn the trust of Shareholders as well as other stakeholders,
and most importantly, preserve the long-term interests of the
Shareholders.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS

Chairman and Non-executive Director

Mr. Yu Zhiping (“Mr. Yu”), aged 56, joined the Group in August
2011 and is currently the chairman of the Board and serving as the
chairman of CGNPC-URC. Mr. Yu joined Guangdong Nuclear Joint
Venture in 1989 and served as the deputy director (presiding) of the
generation scheduling division of the production department since
1998. He subsequently joined CGNPC and served as the planned
statistics manager of the development planning department, the
secretary general of the Finance committee, the director of the
research centre and the general manager of the strategic planning
department from July 2000 to September 2009. Mr. Yu served as
the director and general manager of CGNPC-URC from September
2009 to January 2018 and as the general manager of the nuclear
fuel division of CGNPC from February 2016 to January 2018. Mr. Yu
graduated with a bachelor degree in engineering mechanics from
Huazhong University of Science and Technology* (ZEFREHE A E) in
1985 and was accredited as a senior engineer by CGNPC in 1995.
He has over 29 years of experience in corporate management and
nuclear fuel system operation.
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Corporate Governance Report

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. An Junjing (“Mr. An”), aged 46, joined the Group in January
2018 and is currently the chief executive officer of the Company
and serving as the director and general manager of the CGNPC-
URC. Mr. An joined Guangdong Nuclear Joint Venture in July 1996
and successively served as the head of the general training division
and assistant to director of the training centre of Daya Bay Nuclear
Operation Management Co., Ltd.*(KEs X BELE R AR EITA
7)) and the deputy general manager of Fangchenggang branch from
March 2003 to December 2011. Mr. An served as the manager of
production department and subsequently as the assistant to general
manager of Guangxi Fangchenggang Nuclear Power Co., Ltd.* (&
P BB AR AR from December 2011 to May 2014. Mr. An
served as the deputy director of the office of the board and director
of the research office of CGNPC from May 2014 to February 2016.
He served as the deputy general manager (presiding) of the system
management department of CGNPC from February 2016 to January
2018. Mr. An graduated with a bachelor’s degree in engineering in
nuclear and thermal energy utilization from Tsinghua University* (&
FEAE) in July 1996 and subsequently obtained a master’'s degree
in engineering in nuclear and nuclear engineering from Shanghai Jiao
Tong University* (_E/8 22 BAE) in June 2009. Mr. An was accredited
as a senior engineer by CGNPC in 2009.
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Executive Director

Mr. Chen Deshao (“Mr. Chen”), aged 45, joined the Group in
January 2018 and is currently the chief financial officer of the
Company and serving as the chief accountant of CGNPC-URC. Mr.
Chen also serves as a director of certain subsidiaries of CGNPC-URC,
including China Uranium Development, Swakop Uranium, etc. Mr.
Chen served as the deputy manager of the finance department of the
materials trading centre of Anhui Materials Corporation* (Z & ¥4 &
B/~ a]) from July 1996 to December 2001. He subsequently joined
Guangdong Daya Bay Nuclear Power Services Group Co., Ltd.”
(BRADEZERISEBFGRAR]) in December 2001. Mr. Chen
successively held positions of head of finance department, manager
of budget management, deputy director of budget department and
director of budget department of CGNPC from May 2007 to July
2013. He served as an assistant manager of the finance department
of China Nuclear Power Engineering Co., Ltd.* (R B T2 AR A
7)) from July 2013 to June 2014 and the manager of the finance
department of CGNPC-URC from June 2014 to January 2018. Mr.
Chen graduated with a bachelor of economics degree in accounting
from Anhui Finance and Trade College* (Z &8 Z ZF%) in June 1996
and a master’s degree in accounting from Xiamen University* (B 9K
&) in 2012. Mr. Chen obtained the senior accountant title of the PRC
in 2008 and was accredited as a non-practicing member of China
Institute of Certified Public Accountants in 2009. He has over 23
years of financial management experience.

Non-executive Director

Mr. Sun Xu (“Mr. Sun”), aged 54, joined the Group in November
2018 and is currently the Non-executive director of the Company and
serving as the director of CGNPC-URC, CGN Energy International
Holdings Co., Limited* (#F Bl 1z 88 REUFR A% B PR 2 &) and CGN
Intellectual Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd* (FF B2 se Rl G
BBRA 7)), respectively. Mr. Sun joined Guangdong Nuclear Power
Joint Venture in June 1990 and served in management positions at
various group members of CGN Group. Since January 2011, Mr.
Sun served as a full-time director of CGN Group and has been a full-
time director and a member of various professional committees to
various group companies in nuclear power, nuclear fuel, new energy
and other industries. Mr. Sun graduated from the Asia International
Open University (Macau)* (Z2 1 CEFT) BIFR R FAREZ(AIOU)) in April
2001 with a master degree in business administration. Mr. Sun was
accredited as a senior economist by CGNPC in September 2014.
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Non-executive Director

Mr. Yin Xiong (“Mr. Yin”), aged 54, joined the Group in November
2018 and is currently the non-executive director of the Company and
has been serving as a full-time director of CGN Group since April
2017. Mr. Yin joined CGN Group in September 2011, prior to which
he held various management positions in China National Nuclear
Corporation* (FFBl4#%Z T 2482 7)) and government bureaux in Sanya,
Hainan Province. After joining CGN Group, he successively served
as the responsible person of some important departments and/or
senior management of CGNPC, Daya Bay Nuclear Power Operation
and Management Co., Ltd.* (R EZEELEEEGRE TR A])
and Yangjiang Nuclear Power Co., Ltd.* (B3I BB R A al). From
January 2016 to April 2017, Mr. Yin served as an executive director
and general manager of Shenzhen Nengzhihui Power Sales Co.,
Ltd*CRINTEE 2 FEB HEHEBR A E]). Mr. Yin received a bachelor
degree of science in nuclear physics and nuclear technology from
Lanzhou University* (B A£2) in July 1986 and a master degree of
science in July 1988. In May 2008, Mr. Yin received his Ph.D. degree
of management in business administration from Grenoble School of
Business in France. Mr. Yin was accredited as a senior engineer by
CGNPC in December 2010.

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Qiu Xianhong (“Mr. Qiu”), aged 57, joined the Group in August
2011 and is currently an INED of the Company. Mr. Qiu possesses
the qualification as a Certified Public Accountant in the PRC and
a senior accountant of the PRC. Mr. Qiu also served as a finance
controller and the vice secretary general to China Institute of Strategy
and Management, and independent director of Qinhuangdao Tolian
Heavy Industry Co., Ltd. (@ company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange with stock code 002459). Prior to joining the Company,
Mr. Qiu was a partner of Beijing QQCPA Accounting Firm, the
deputy head of the financial department and the Asset management
department of China National Packaging Corporation* (/B 3 3
#8/27])and the deputy director of Finance Department of National
Intellectual Property Administration, PRC*(FFBIZEF|/E) . Mr. Qiu
graduated with a bachelor degree in financial accounting from
Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics* (T FaBi 4 KE2) . Mr.
Qiu has over 32 years of experience in financial accounting, financial
management and auditing.
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Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Gao Pei Ji (“Mr. Gao”), aged 73, joined the Group in August
2014 and is currently an INED of the Company. Mr. Gao also serves as
an independent non-executive director of CITIC Resources Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
with stock code 01205). Mr. Gao was a deputy director of C & C Law
Office in Beijing, a leading law firm in China, between 1984 and 1993.
Mr. Gao became a partner of Clifford Chance, a leading international
law firm, between 1993 and 2007. Following his retirement in
2007, he became a PRC legal consultant to Clifford Chance, Hong
Kong office. Mr. Gao has extensive and diversified experience in a
broad area of legal practices, including banking and finance, direct
investment (both inbound and outbound from the perspective of the
PRC) in the areas of energy, natural resource and petrochemical
projects. Mr. Gao has been involved in the development of nuclear
power projects since 1985, including the development of Daya Bay
nuclear power project, the incorporation of the operating company
for Daya Bay and Lingao nuclear power plants and the development
of the Taishan nuclear power project (applying third generation
technology). Mr. Gao holds a LLM degree from the Law School of
University of California, Berkeley. He has been admitted to practice
law in the PRC since 1984.

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis (“Mr. Lee”), aged 52, joined the Group in
August 2014 and is currently an INED of the Company. Mr. Lee was
admitted as a Certified Practising Accountant of the CPA Australia
in June 1996 and a Certified Public Accountant of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) in October 1999.
Mr. Lee is currently a Fellow Certified Practising Accountant of the
CPA Australia and a Fellow Certified Public Accountant of HKICPA.
He has possessed over 27 years of experience with unlisted groups,
listed groups and professional firms in finance, accounting and
auditing. Mr. Lee is currently an independent non-executive director of
Worldgate Global Logistics Ltd. (listed on the GEM board of the Stock
Exchange with stock code 08292), Windmill Group Limited (listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange with stock code 01850), China
Singyes New Materials Holdings Limited (listed on the GEM Board of
the Stock Exchange with stock code 08073) and Redsun Properties
Group Limited (listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange with
stock code 01996). Mr. Lee graduated with a Bachelor of Economics
degree from Macquarie University in Australia in 1992.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. He Fei (“Mr. He”), aged 42, is currently the vice president of the
Company and serving as the vice general manager of CGNPC-URC
and the director of China Uranium Development, CGN Global, CGNM
UK LTD etc. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. He held a position in
the department of international cooperation of the State Commission
of Science, Technology and Industry for National Defence, and
was then appointed to the French Atomic Energy Commission;
and served successively as the secretary of the general manager
department of the general office, secretary to the chairman of the
board, senior manager for business of Beijing business unit and
director of the business liaison office of the general office of CGNPC.
Mr. He graduated from the International Relations College* (B[R B81%
Efr) with a bachelor degree of arts in English in 2000 and obtained
a master of law degree in civil and commercial law from Renmin
University of China* (A Bl A R AZ) in 2009. Mr. He has worked in
the nuclear power industry for an extensive period and developed
extensive understanding of the domestic and international nuclear
power industry, and has rich corporate management experience.

Ms. Zheng Xiaowei (“Ms. Zheng”), aged 53, is currently the general
counsel and company secretary of the Company and serving as the
general counsel and secretary of board of directors of CGNPC-URC.
Ms. Zheng has served as the project manager of the Hong Kong
High Technology Development Management Company Limited* (&
BEEREREEAR AT She joined CGNPC in March 1999 and
subsequently worked in the finance department and development
planning department. Ms. Zheng served as the manager of planning
and finance department, financial representative and secretary of
the board of directors of Galaxy Captek Co., Ltd.* (1t F R &lE
‘A A], a subsidiary of CGN Group) from October 2002 to August
2006. She served as the director of investment and legal department
of CGNPC-URC from August 2006 to October 2010 and was re-
designated to general counsel and secretary of board of directors of
CGNPC-URC from October 2010 to now. Ms. Zheng graduated from
Zhejiang University (#7)T X2 with a bachelor degree of engineering
in industrial automation in 1988 and obtained a master of science
degree in science and technology information from China Defense
Science and Technology Information Center (FF B[ [ fl 3%z B
L)) in 1992. Ms. Zheng possesses the qualification certificate for
accounting of the PRC and the Enterprise Legal Adviser Qualification
Certificate of the PRC* (F B3 AR EMMEE ). Ms. Zheng
has 23 years of experience in project investment and financial
management, 18 years of experience in corporate governance and
13 years of experience in management of legal affairs.
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TEERRSE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Corporate governance practices

During the Reporting Period, the Company has adopted and
complied with all the applicable code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code, save for the deviation from the code provision
disclosed below.

Code provision A.6.7 stipulates that, the independent non-executive
directors and other non-executive directors, as equal board members,
should attend general meetings to gain and develop a comprehensive
and balanced understanding of the views of Shareholders. Due to
their other business engagement, Mr. An Junjing, Mr. Sun Xu and
Mr. Yin Xiong did not attend the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 15 January 2019; Mr. Qiu Xianhong did not attend
the 2019 AGM held on 14 June 2019; and, except Mr. Chen Deshao,
Mr. Yin Xiong, Mr. Gao Pei Ji and Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis, other
Directors did not attend the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 27 September 2019.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

EEHE

Regulators

B3R

Shareholders

EE 4
The Board

v
BURSRR M B

TEERBME

Strategic Decision and Supervision

SREIRE
Senior
Management

v
EBEEE

lkiElzapa

Stake-
Holders

AEPEEET
Internal Audit

8T

Employees

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the standards of
securities transactions by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed,
following specific enquiries made by the Company, that they have
complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code
regarding Directors’ securities transactions during the Reporting
Period.

Operational Management

HNERERETRD
External
Auditor
[\ B 2= #61)
Risk Control
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TEERBE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition and role

The Board currently comprises 8 Directors, including 2 EDs, 3
NEDs and 3 INEDs. The composition of the Board is based on a
comprehensive consideration of the Directors’ professional skills,
working background and qualification. It shows the differentiated and
diverse arrangement of Directors. As at the date of this report, the
members of the Board and their memberships in Board committees
are as follows:

Remuneration Audit

Committee

e B

Directors

EDs HITES

Mr. An Junijing (chief CEELLE (BEHTE)
executive officer)

Mr. Chen Deshao PRAEAR S A

NEDs FHTES

Mr. Yu Zhiping (chairman) REFEE(FEE)

Mr. Sun Xu HB5E

Mr. Yin Xiong B

INEDs BAFHTES

Mr. Qiu Xianhong ERSetk e A

Mr. Gao Pei Ji =IRESLYE

Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis RIS

C — Chairman of the relevant Board committees
M — Member of the relevant Board committees

The biographical details of each Director are set out in the section
“Biographies of Directors” of this annual report.

The Board is responsible for formulating the overall strategy and
policy of the Group and ensures there are sufficient capital and
management resources for the implementation of relevant strategies
and the completeness of the financial and internal control systems,
and the compliance of business operation with relevant legal
requirements. All members of the Board have fulfilled their duties
and act in the best interest of the Group and Shareholders. Unless
otherwise disclosed in this annual report, to the knowledge of the
Company, there was no financial, business, family and other material/
related relationship among members of the Board.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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All Directors should comply with Rule 3.08(d) of the Listing Rules at
all times to avoid actual and potential conflict of interest and duties. In
each meeting of the Board and special committees of the Board (the
“Meetings”), Directors are required to declare if they have any interest
in the matters being considered in the Meetings. If a Director or any of
his associates have major interests in the matters to be considered/
approved, the Director will not be counted as in the quorum and
voting at the meeting. The Director may not be present during the
discussion on related matters.

Pursuant to Article 108 of the Articles of Association of the Company
and the Corporate Governance Code, all Directors are required
to retire from office by rotation once every three years. The Board
complies with Rules 3.10 (1) & (2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules in
relation to the appointment of at least three INEDs, which represents
at least one-third of the Board, and one of the INEDs has appropriate
professional qualifications in accounting or related financial
management expertise.

In accordance with the requirements of code provision C.2.1, the
Directors have conducted a review of the overall effectiveness of the
internal control systems of the Group and concluded that all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management are effective.

Responsibilities of the Board

As the decision-making body of the Company, the Board
takes charge of the corporate governance function. The major
responsibilities of the Board include the tasks stated below. The
Board may delegate the responsibilities to other committees as it
thinks fit:

(@) to review the Company’s policies, programs and procedures
and make recommendations as necessary from time to time;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(©) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices to
ensure compliance with the legal and regulatory requirements;
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I Lo

to oversee the implementation of any code of conduct and/
or business ethics of the Company to ensure the Company’s
compliance with the relevant rules and regulations, including
but not limited to the Listing Rules and the Takeovers Code;

to review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report;

to form any committee(s) or panels, appoint members thereto,
delegate at any time and from time to time to any person
or committee(s) or panel(s), any of its powers and functions
conferred on it, review and approve the reports of the
committee(s) and panel(s), review their performance and revise
their composition and terms of reference as appropriate;

to oversee all matters and to formulate policies in relation
to the Company’s internal control, succession plans,
remuneration and compensation for Directors and employees,
risk management, corporate governance and corporate social
responsibility, and to supervise the implementation of such
policies conducted by the Company’s management;

investigate any significant instances of non-compliance or
potential non-compliance of the Company; and

to do any such things to enable the Board to discharge its
obligations and responsibilities.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Major work performed by the Board in relation to its corporate
governance function in 2019 includes:

1. reviewing and approving the annual results of 2018, the
initial draft of annual report and matters relating to the annual
general meeting;

2. reviewing and approving the Board’s major work plan of 2019
(including summary of the Board report of 2018);

3. reviewing and approving the comprehensive risk management
report of 2019 (including summary of risk management
situation of 2018);

4. reviewing and approving the internal audit plan of 2019
(including summary of the internal work plan of 2018);

5} reviewing and approving the internal control evaluation of
2018;

0. reviewing the (continuing) connected transactions execution
report of 2018;

7. reviewing and approving the new version of “Provisions on the

Corporate Governance Authorization”;

8. reviewing and approving the 2019 interim results and matters
relating to the interim report;

TEERRE

EEGR2019FFEBBLEE RN
FETIERTE

1.

FH2018F FRER - FHRIT
REFRFASHERER

E#010FEEETGEH T (E
T8 (52018 FEEETHRER
#) s

E2019FE 2 H AR T2 R
EH(E2018FEERAKRERIG N A&

#E)

EM20190FEAETIEE (5
2018 FENE T EML) ;

FH2018F EAIEFHE RS

ERI20185F () BER BT

BREwE

FHFRC RRPRERERTE)

FEH2019F P XA LT HRE
HEEE ;

Annual Report 2019
“E-NEFFR

51



52

Corporate Governance Report

PO - -2\
TEERRE
9. reviewing and approving the upgrade of the comprehensive

risk management system;

10. reviewing the interim report on the implementation of
comprehensive risk management of 2019;

11. reviewing and approving the interim report on the
implementation of internal audit of 2019;

12. reviewing and approving the “Internal Control Manual” (2019
Edition);

13. reviewing the risk management performance report for
January to October 2019; and

14. reviewing and approving the Board meeting plan of 2020.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

All Directors, including the chairman and the chief executive officer,
are required to retire from office by rotation once every three years
and are subject to re-election by Shareholders at the annual general
meeting in accordance with the Articles of Association and the
Corporate Governance Code. The Articles of Association provides
details in relation to the procedures of election and appointment of
the Directors.

Pursuant to the Corporate Governance Code, any further re-
appointment of an INED who has served the Board for more than 9
years will be subject to separate resolution to be approved at general
meeting.

Besides, pursuant to article 112 of the Articles of Association,
Directors appointed to fill casual vacancy by the Board shall hold
office only until the next general meeting after their appointment, and
shall be subject to re-election at general meetings.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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All Directors will enter into a director service contract with the
Company immediately after their appointment for a term of two years
and subject to retirement and re-election of at least once every three
years. The contract sets out the details of the duties and obligations
of Directors. All Directors understand they have joint responsibility
towards all Shareholders in terms of the operation, business and
development of the Company. They are required to fulfill Directors’
duties according to the director service contract and relevant laws
and regulations. All Directors confirm that they provide sufficient time
and effort in company affairs, express their views cautiously and
diligently and fulfill their Directors’ duties.

Directors’ Interests

As recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352
of part XV of the SFO, none of the Directors held any Shares of the
Company or associated companies as at 31 December 2019.

Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional Development

Newly appointed Directors will receive an introduction package
related to the laws in relation to directors of a listed company and
their duties, which covers the statutory and regulatory obligations of a
director.

Pursuant to code provision A.6.5, directors should participate in
continuous professional development training to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. The Company encourages all Directors to
participate in continuous professional development to ensure better
fulfillment of Directors’ duties and contribution to the Company’s
development. During the Reporting Period, all Directors participated
in continuous professional development by attending internal training,
seminar or forum. Furthermore, attending training seminars or reading
materials is also beneficial to continuous professional development.
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In 2019, a summary of training taken by the Directors of the Company
is set out as follows:

Directors

EDs HITES

Mr. An Junjing TEFEA

Mr. Chen Deshao PRIERR A&
NEDs FHTES

Mr. Yu Zhiping REFEE

Mr. Sun Xu FIBEAE

Mr. Yin Xiong BRI
INEDs BYFHITES
Mr. Qiu Xianhong ERSe st e

Mr. Gao Pei Ji SEELE
Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis ZTEIRR S

a. Attending training seminars in person/via video: on 24 April and 25 October

2019, respectively, the Company held a training session for Directors,
which covered director’s performance and reflection on the nuclear power
development in the new era, respectively.

b. Reading training materials relevant to the Company’s business or to the
Directors’ duties and obligations.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

According to code provision A.2.1, the roles of chairman of the Board
and chief executive officer should not be performed by the same
individual. During the period, the chairman of the Board and chief
executive officer of the Company were Mr. Yu Zhiping and Mr. An
Junjing, respectively. The chairman is responsible for ensuring that the
Board performs its duties properly under good corporate governance
practices and procedures; the chief executive officer is responsible
for managing the affairs of the Group with the support of the EDs
and management team, including executing the main strategies and
measures adopted by the Board.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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NEDS

NEDs, including INEDs, are experienced individuals from different
industries and backgrounds. At least one of the INEDs possesses
the appropriate accounting qualifications and related financial
management expertise as required by the Listing Rules. Based on
the expertise and experience of each of the Director, the Directors
provide independent judgment and advise on the Company’s
management. The number of NEDs representing more than half of
the Board members, which helps the Company to make objective
and independent judgment and decision. The advice of NEDs shall be
considered as major advice, in case where the potential conflicts of
interest of related matters arises.

The initial term of each NED is two years and subject to retirement
and re-election as required by the Articles of Association, and will
continue thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’
notice in writing served by either party to the other.

Each INED has made an annual confirmation of independence in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of
the view that, all INEDs meet the independent guidelines as set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and that they are independent.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Zheng Xiaowei (“Ms. Zheng”) has been appointed as joint
company secretary of the Company since 1 June 2014 (and currently
the company secretary of the Company). The role of the company
secretary is to support the chairman of the Board, the Board and
relevant committees, to ensure smooth communications and timely
transmission of information. At the same time, the company secretary
plays an important role such as to ensure the Board meetings
are convened in accordance with laws and regulations, and the
Board’s decisions are executed correctly. The company secretary
is an important communication bridge between the Company and
Shareholders, it also assists the Board to perform its responsibility to
Shareholders in accordance with the Listing Rules.

In accordance with the Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Ms. Zheng
has received no less than 15 hours professional training during the
Reporting Period.
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TEERBME

BOARD PROCESS AND ATTENDANCE OF MEETINGS

There are at least 4 regular Board meetings held every year, and
ad hoc Board meeting is convened when necessary. In addition to
written resolutions, Directors participated in the meetings either in
person, by proxy or through electronic means of communications.
Board members have full access to the business development of the
Company at the meetings at regular interval.

At least 14 days’ notices of all regular Board meetings were given
to all Directors, who were given an opportunity to add matters in
the agenda for discussion. The finalised agenda and accompanying
board papers were sent to all Directors at least 3 days prior to the
meetings.

During the Reporting Period, there were four (4) Board meetings
held by the Company in total. The attendance of each Director at the
Board meeting and relevant committee meetings are as follows:

EZERFRERHERR

EEeBFELBR4NTHESETSH
FRBEROASEEEE YR - REB
EMARERRLEREIN  EEMAEBEE
HEREZEARKRHERUNETBASFANEZ
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MAEEHESSERIERMEESEY
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2 EEFHFESRREHEEZES
EMIBEROT

Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held

HERY, ERBTRY

Board
Position Meeting
B Exg
Mr. Yu Zhiping NED, chairman of both the Board and nomination 4/4
committee and member of the remuneration
committee
FETRE FNTEE ETLEIR  REZEGIER
FMEEE%E
Mr. An Junjing ED and member of both the nomination committee 3/4
and remuneration committee
ZEIBLE HTEE REZELZERFMEESZE
Mr. Chen Deshao  ED 4/4
PBRERR A HITEE
Mr. Sun Xu NED and member of the audit committee 4/4
BIBsxE FHTEERERZERZE
Mr. Yin Xiong NED 4/4
B FHTEE

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held

HERE ERETRE

Board Audit Remuneration Nomination
Position Meeting Committee Committee Committee

Rfu Ezg BNZEE® ¥MWEREE  REZEe

Mr. Qiu Xianhong  INED, chairman of both the audit committee and 3/4 6/6 0/0 11
the remuneration committee and member of
the nomination committee

RS BUFNTES ERZEQIR FMZA

SIFLREZEEZE
Mr. Gao Pei Ji INED, member of both the remuneration 4/4 N/A 0/0 11
committee and the nomination committee
BEALE BUFNTES  FWEEGZERRLER TEm
g%8
Mr. Lee Kwok INED, member of the audit committee, the 4/4 6/6 0/0 11
Tung Louis remuneration committee and the nomination
committee
FEREE BUFNTES ERZEGERE  FMER
eRERREZEEZE

Should a potential conflict of interest involving a controlling EBERRRIESTFEAENNRE
Shareholder or a Director arise, the matter would be considered and ® - EEBESAEHFAETERIL
approved in a physical meeting, as opposed to being dealt with by - MIEUEEARZER - TFEEARF
written resolution. Other Directors with no material conflict of interest HEENHEGBESTELEERESe S
would be present at mestings dealing with such conflict. )

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors and officers liability NEEREEER LB ERITENE

insurance in respect of potential legal action against Directors. FEMNEENESREERABBETRRBIZR
ZHE o
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DELEGATION AND WORK DONE BY THE BOARD

The Board provides leadership and oversees the Group’s business
management, strategic decisions, performance and affairs.

The Board has formulated a clear written policy that delineates
matters reserved for Board approval of the Group. The reserved
matters include, among other things:

—_

the business development and planning;

2. corporate policies;

3. financial planning;

4, investment planning;

58 annual budget;

6. major disposals and acquisitions;

7. major connected transactions;

8. appointment of Directors, company secretary and other senior

management; and

9. other significant operational and financial matters.
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In addition to work relating to corporate governance function, other
major work performed by the Board during the Reporting Period
includes:

1. reviewing and approving the 2019 business plan (including the
2018 implementation report);

2. reviewing and approving the 2019 budget planning (including
the 2018 budget implementation report);

S reviewing and approving organizational adjustment and staff
planning of 2019;

4. reviewing the continuing connected transactions under the
New Sales Framework Agreement (2020-2022) entered into
between the Company and CGNPC-URG;

S} reviewing the connected transactions under the Sales and
Purchase Agreement of Husab Uranium Concentrates
between CGN Global and Swakop;

6. reviewing the continuing connected transactions under the
New Financial Services Framework Agreement (2020-2022)
entered into between the CGN Mining, CGN Finance and
CGNPC Huasheng;

7. reviewing and approving the mid-to-long-term investment
strategy of Fission; and

8. reviewing the preparation of the 2020 PBA (plan, budget and
assessment).

The day-to-day operation and management of the Group is delegated
to the senior management. Certain authorities are also granted to
relevant Board committee, the granted authorities and responsibilities
are reviewed by the Board from time to time.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

There are three committees under the Board, which are audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee,
respectively, with its terms of reference established. Each specific
committee performs on specific area, provides comments and
recommendations to the Board for consideration.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company is delegated by the Board to
exercise its specific rights within the ambit of the terms of reference.

As at 31 December 2019, the audit committee of the Company
comprised a NED, namely Mr. Sun Xu, and two INEDs, namely Mr.
Qiu Xianhong (chairman) and Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis.

The function of the audit committee is basically to assist the Board in
providing an independent review of the effectiveness of the financial
reporting process, internal control and risk management systems
of the Group, and oversee the audit process. The audit committee
also serves as a focal point for communication, among Directors, the
external auditors, and the management as regards financial reporting,
internal control and the auditing.

Major work performed by the audit committee during the Reporting
Period includes:

1. hearing the 2018 audit report by SHINEWING (HK) CPA
Limited;
2. reviewing and approving the 2018 annual results and

appointment of auditor;

3. reviewing the 2019 internal audit plan (including the 2018
internal audit summary);

4. reviewing and approving the 2019 interim results and matters
relating to interim report;

S reviewing the interim report on the implementation of
comprehensive risk management in 2019;
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0. reviewing the interim report on the implementation of internal
audit in 2019;

7. reviewing the “Internal Control Manual” (2019 Edition);

8. reviewing the 2018 internal control evaluation report;

9. reviewing the 2019 comprehensive risk management report

(including the 2018 comprehensive risk management
summary); and

10. reviewing the “Audit Services Plan for 2019”.

During the Reporting Period, the Board had no disagreement with the
audit committee’s view on the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of the external auditors.

\REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee is delegated by the Board to exercise its
specific rights within the ambit of the terms of reference.

As at 31 December 2019, the remuneration committee of the
Company comprised one NED, namely Mr. Yu Zhiping, one ED,
namely Mr. An Junjing and three INEDs, namely, Mr. Qiu Xianhong
(chairman), Mr. Gao Pei Ji and Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis.

The function of the remuneration committee is basically to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure of all remuneration of EDs, NEDs and senior management
and review the remuneration packages of the EDs and senior
management with reference to the corporate goals and objectives.

No Directors’ remuneration adjustment was made during the
Reporting Period.
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Pursuant to code provision B.1.5, the annual remuneration of the
members of the senior management (excluding the Directors) by
band during the year ended 31 December 2019 is set out below:

Remuneration band (HK$)
FrfEaE (B o)

Nil to HK$1,000,000
£%1,000,000%8 7T

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
1,000,001 721,500,000 # 7T

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the 5 highest
paid individuals are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee is delegated by the Board to exercise its
specific rights within the ambit of terms of reference.

As at 31 December 2019, the nomination committee comprised
a NED, namely Mr. Yu Zhiping (chairman), an ED, namely Mr. An
Junjing and three INEDs, namely Mr. Qiu Xianhong, Mr. Gao Pei Ji
and Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis.

The function of the nomination committee is to review and
formulate the nomination procedure as regards the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of Directors; review the structure,
size and composition of the Board and make recommendations or
any proposed changes to the Board to implement the corporate
strategy; and make recommendation to the Board on candidates for
appointment as Directors. The nomination committee follows rigorous
selection procedure in choosing the right person as a member of
the Board. Various criteria such as board diversity, appropriate
professional knowledge, experience, skills and possible contribution
of the candidate will be considered.

CGN Mining Company Limited
PEREXRARAF

BIECEEATIE B 1505 SRERE
BB (TRIEEE) REE2019F12 A
31 FENFEHMETTISHER

2019 2018
20194 20184
Number of Number of
Individuals Individuals
A A
(Restated)

(E7)

1 1

2 2

EERhEESFMALTOMESFHE - &
KR M IHRRMEE6 -

RBEZEE
RAZESHEFTERERENTEEE
TR -

20196 12A31H ' REBEZEEBCH—H
ERITEEREFRE(ER) - — BT
BELEBREN B IERITEEL
Stk E  SREEAERTERBLESR
ﬁJZ °

REZBENBEARHIYEERES
R ENMREREENERER R
EZenRB  ABRARYREZSIR
HEBRRLEFEBETE - ARLE AT
REG  MEFSREFREHBAE - =7
HREERBBEENGEETERSEA
ITREFENE - EERERANER - 1R
HREGRERENAE  BRESES
TUEENFERME - £8 - KeERATEE
B ER -



Corporate Governance Report

During the Reporting Period, major work performed by the nomination
committee includes:

1. recommending the retirement and re-election of Directors at
the annual general meeting;

2. assessing the independence of INEDs.

Board Diversity policy

The Board adopted the “Board Diversity Policy”. The Company
recognises the merits of Board diversity and sees the edge of
Board diversity in driving competitiveness. In making up the Board’s
composition, the Board considers various skills, regional and
industry experience, background, gender and other attributes of
the its members. All appointments are based on the talent, skill and
experience of the individual, as well as gender diversity, so as to meet
the operational needs.

Internal Control

The Board has overall responsibility for setting up and maintaining
effective internal control system and for reviewing its effectiveness,
to safeguard the Group’s assets and Shareholders’ interest.
The management of the Company at each level assesses on
the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control system by
performing reviews. Internal control department reports to the audit
committee once a year on key findings regarding internal controls.
Audit committee, in turn, communicates any material issues regarding
internal control system to the Board.

During the Reporting Period, the audit committee conducted a review
on the effectiveness of the internal control system, and no serious
deficiencies were identified. Therefore, the Board considered that the
internal control systems of the Group are effective, and complied with
the provisions of the Corporate Governance Code.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of the financial statements of the Group. In preparing the financial
statements, the HKFRSs have been adopted, appropriate accounting
policies have been used and applied consistently, and reasonable
and prudent judgments and estimates have been made. The Board is
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
which may cast significant doubt over the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. Accordingly, the Board has continued to adopt
the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

The Company’s auditor, SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited acknowledged
its reporting responsibilities pursuant to the Corporate Governance
Code. The auditor’s responsibilities are set out in the independent
auditor’s report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the Reporting Period, the remuneration paid by the Company
to the auditor, SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited and its affiliate
company, is set out as follows:

FriR B0 BR 7%

Services rendered

Audit services B RS

FEBEIZIRTS

Non-audit services

The significant amount of fee incurred for non-audit services arose
from tax service, review of interim results and continuing connected
transactions.
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SHAREHOLDERS AND SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING

In order to ensure that all Shareholders enjoy equal status and
effective exercise of their own rights, the Company convenes general
meetings every year in accordance with the Articles of Association.
During the Reporting Period, three (3) general meetings were held,
namely the extraordinary general meeting held on 15 January
2019, the annual general meeting held on 14 June 2019 and the
extraordinary general meeting held on 27 September 2019. The
attendance of each Director is set out as follows:

Mr. Yu Zhiping REFRE
Mr. An Junjing LEIEEE
Mr. Chen Deshao PRIEABS A
Mr. Sun Xu FRBxE

Mr. Yin Xiong BRIk

Mr. Qiu Xianhong EfSedt e
Mr. Gao Pei Ji SIEESE
Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis ZEIfR A

PO~ 3= V2N
EREBRSE

RERMBRRAE

RIRFFT A RN Z A FE A 0B BT
A FMEF - AR ERIEERRMANARE
TEFAAREAS - IREHAN - AR F
BITT=QREBREKRE + H5IAE201951
A15ARTRIRERFRIRE - 20196 A
148 BTHRERBS KE k2019F9H27
HREITHRRFIAE - EFHEREX
ZERWET -
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Right to convene an extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles of Association, on the requisition
of one or more Shareholders at the date of deposit of the requisition
holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up share capital of the
Company having the right to vote at general meetings, the Directors
are obliged to proceed to convene an extraordinary general meeting
of the Company.

Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Directors or the
company secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary
general meeting and deposited at the registered office of the
Company in Cayman Islands and/or the principal place of business
of the Company in Hong Kong. The requisitionists must state the
purposes of the meeting and sign the requisition letter.

If the Directors do not convene a meeting within 21 days from the
date of the deposit of the requisition, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may convene a meeting, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Directors
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All enquiries
may be made in writing and sent to the attention of the company
secretary, Ms. Zheng Xiaowei, in one of the following ways:

1. By post: CGN Mining Company Limited
Rm 1903, 19/F, China Resources Building
No. 26 Harbour Road
Wanchai, Hong Kong

2. By facsimile: (852) 2116 4031

38 By email: ir.cgnmc@cgnpc.com.cn

CGN Mining Company Limited
HEKBERERERAT

B SRAER
BRBHERAK B AR

RIBSRAMANFECAEMRTE - IREEHER
ER BETOREERBRAE LRE
MARAFEBRA+D 2 —H—2HEH
RABEREHER - EEFEAFRARAN
BREFRIAE -

ZEERBRARRFIARSNERAUE
AFAMESHARIWMEEL - WiKE
ARAIRHASESH M ER KR, S
REBHEELEEME - IREERKMALT
BEERIGPHAR SR B W HEITE
%o

WMEBERENEEEZ A BET21BRE
Res EXEReZENATTATERH
ZAE WHRFIEAZRBHRAGHENA
WEAEE SR BRAZERMELRFT
BEIERER -

MESSRHEANER

BRREEAEZTSREEN - FTAEEAR
Miﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ'iuTﬂﬁﬁ—ﬁﬁﬁ
ERENTWEBBRFL LN

1. R - PEREEARAA
B EFEEBE265
EHAE19E
1903%E

2. fEH : (852) 2116 4031

& B : ir.cgnmc@cgnpc.com.cn



Corporate Governance Report

Voting by poll

Pursuant to Rule 13.39 of the Listing Rules and article 72 of the
Articles of Association, any votes of the Shareholders at a general
meeting must be taken by poll, except where the chairman decides
to allow a resolution which relates purely to a procedural or
administrative matter to be voted by a show of hands.

Procedures to put forward proposals at general meetings

Shareholders who would like to put forward proposals at a general
meeting shall follow the procedures below:

On the requisition in writing of either: i) any number of Shareholder
of the Company representing not less than one-fortieth of the
total voting rights of all the Shareholders having at the date of the
requisition a right to vote at the meeting to which the requisition
relates; or ii) not less than 50 Shareholders, the Company shall, at the
expense of the requisitionists:

a) circulate to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next
annual general meeting notice of any resolution which may
properly be proposed and is intended to be proposed at that
meeting;

b) circulate to Shareholders entitled to have notice of any general
meeting sent to them any statement of not more than one
thousand words with respect to the matter referred to in any
proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at that
meeting.

The requisition must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited
at the registered office of the Company in Cayman Islands and/or
the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for
the attention of the company secretary not less than 6 weeks before
the general meeting, in case of a requisition requires notice of a
resolution, or not less than 1 week before the general meeting for any
other requisition.

TEERRE

UEEARETRE

BRI EmRRNE13.30G R ERAMAIET2
FRARE - BRRBRAE L AERER
SENBEARET LT EEEREAFE
ERERERFIITREENRERAUAR
FHAETRR -

RBRRAELREBBNER

BRBERA® 12 2 IR R AR I
TR -

R FERRTORIREERE BEHRAE
EZ%EI}EFUFEF%Eﬁj(AL?xKE’Jﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ@
BREROT D Z —EBNEFEENAR
AR ¢ i) ANARB0EMIR - ABE R
HERE - KARBBEHATER  EL
B 37 FR AR B SR e A AE

a) FAREEE T —RERRBFASHE
EHARBRRELATENAE L
ERE2HBHE 2 MEMRESR

b) REeE: 330 CGREN S VNS 0)
RBELHTZR—TFEORLE - A
BEAZASHRZNEMRAASR
Pt EE R A S LRI
e

BERERARRHERMALRSE AR
RERRG RN E E_Hﬂ(ﬁﬂﬁéﬁﬁ%gﬁ
RBFRBANZR) HBRRAGH A DR
*iﬁﬁ(ﬁﬂi%fffﬂﬁ{@zz*)L%$A AR
MSHENEMMPEERER,HUREEDN
TELENE  YERABRARMELRE -

Annual Report 2019
“E-NEFFR

67



68

Corporate Governance Report
TEERRSE

Change in Constitutional Documents

During the Reporting Period, there is no change in the constitutional
documents of the Company.

Risk management and internal control
Comprehensive risk management

The Company has initially established a relatively comprehensive
risk management system. With reference to relevant risk
management requirements of the “Risk Management —
Principles and Guidelines” of ISO31000:2009 standard and the
Corporate Governance Code, the Company effectively identified,
tracked and controlled the risks. It also strictly implemented the
Comprehensive Risk Management Policy. Meanwhile, the Company
classified the overall risk business into four levels, namely major
operating risk, non-investment specific risk, project investment risk
and general risk, and clearly defined risk management process
respectively. The Board, management, the risk management
department and business departments were responsible for their
relevant duties within risk management to ensure the efficient
operation of the system.

Internal audit

During the Reporting Period, according to the 2018 internal audit
plan approved by the Board, the Audit Department carried out
management audit of CGN Global, risk management assessment
and internal control evaluation of CGN Mining. Among which, the risk
management assessment was entrust to PricewaterhouseCoopers, a
professional consulting agency, to conduct a comprehensive review
of the soundness and implementation effectiveness of the Company’s
risk management and market value management system. The
implementation of specific audits, risk management assessment and
internal control evaluation, as well as regularly providing management
recommendations to the Board, the risks which existed in the
operation and management of the Company’s related fields were
effectively prevented and monitored, and helped the internal audit
play a positive role in risk management improvement and internal
control improvement, thus ensuring the Company’s operations in
compliance with laws and regulations.
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The Board has overall responsibility for setting up and maintaining
effective internal control system and for reviewing its effectiveness,
to safeguard the Group’s assets and Shareholders’ interest. The
management of the Company at each level assesses and reports
on the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control system by
performing reviews. Internal control department reports to the audit
committee once a year on key findings regarding internal controls.
Audit committee, in turn, communicates any material issues regarding
internal control system to the Board.

During the Reporting Period, the audit committee conducted a review
on the effectiveness of the internal control system, and no serious
deficiencies were identified. Therefore, the Board considered that the
internal control systems of the Group are effective, and complied with
the provisions of the Corporate Governance Code.

In order to comprehensively evaluate the design and operation of
internal control, standardize assessment procedures and assessment
report of internal control, and reveal and prevent risks, the Company
issued the “Internal Control Manual — Evaluation Booklet” for the first
time on 28 November 2019, in accordance with the requirements of
the “Basic Practices for Enterprise Internal Control” and supporting
guidelines issued by the Ministry of Finance of the PRC and other five
ministries and commissions, and provisions of Corporate Governance
Code.

In January 2019, in accordance with the general requirements of CGN
Group, the audit department of the Company, as the lead department
for investigating illegal operations and investment liabilities, issued
the “Regulations for the Investigation of lllegal Investment Operations
and Management (Trial)” on 26 April and urged subsidiary CGN
Global to formulate documentation on its accountability system for
illegal operations and investments. At the same time, in terms of
daily supervision, the audit department confirmed to the functional
departments and subordinate companies every quarter whether they
have received or found clues or problems for illegal operations or
investments and established a regular notification mechanism. By
establishing and improving the Company’s accountability system for
illegal operations or investments, it has provided further guarantees
for the Company’s asset safety and legal and compliant operations.

The Company regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information as set out in the information disclosure policy which
contains the detailed procedures to ensure that inside information
could be identified timely and remain confidential until the disclosure
of such information is appropriately approved, and the dissemination
of such information is effectively and consistently made.
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Human Capital

We have built up an excellent team of management and professional
talents, with the guidance and value of treasuring, caring for and
optimizing talents to support the sustainable development of the
Company.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had 13 employees, among
which 6 in Hong Kong, 2 in Kazakhstan and 5 in UK. For further
information about staff remuneration, please refer to the relevant
contents in notes 15 and 16 of the consolidated financial statements.

Talents
Employee composition

Among the Company’s existing workforce, management and
technical personnel represented 31% and 69%, respectively; the
Company has a highly educated workforce, of which 62% have
master degree.

Employment Mechanism
Path of development

Respecting growth and career development of each employee,
the Company has set two paths of career development, namely
the management and the professional technical path, and has
established the switch mechanism between the two paths. Staff can
freely choose from the two career development paths and show their
talents. Meanwhile, the Company provides guidance to staff to set up
their personal career development plan, so as to help them to make
rapid career growth.

Internal talent market

For better use of the ability and expertise of each employee, the
Company established the internal talent market. The vacancies of
the Company will first be filled by internal talents, through which
the aspiration of individual employees can be better realized and
optimized the allocation of internal human resources, thus to
accomplish the development of both the Company and employees.
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Evaluation System

In order to ensure the Company’s objectives could be effectively
implemented, we have established both incentive and restraint
mechanisms, and tends to guide employees’ conducts by way
of continuous communication, feedback and improvement. The
Company established a complete performance management
system by following the steps of communication, coaching, tracking
and assessment during the formulation and implementation of the
performance plan, so as to reach the expected performance results,
and promotes the co-development of the Company and employees.

Cultivating talents

The Company adheres to the concept of “cultivating prioritizes
training”, follows the principle of “authorized employment, training for
all employees and lifelong education” by absorbing the experience
of international talent training, and formulate and continually optimize
the rolling plans and supporting systems for key positions, forming a
standardized and efficient independent talent training system.

Training resources

With close combination of its business needs, the Company fully
utilises its own advantages and has established a comprehensive
training system for all employees, covering management cadres, key
positions and internationalized talent pools. At the same time, relying
on the extensive training resources of CGN Group, we have shared
more than 1,000 online courses, allowing employees to learn and to
have on-the-job training at any time on demand, effectively meeting
the rapid development and talent training needs of the Company.

Remuneration system

Combined with the characteristics of the industry, the Company
constructed a competitive remuneration system which appeals to
quality talents and motivates employees effectively. The remuneration
system reflects the value of positions and individual contribution
and encourages long-term service of employees, jointly striving for
continuous growth and sustainable development of the Company and
sharing the results of corporate development. Remuneration is mainly
composed of monthly salary, performance bonus, over-time pay,
allowance and subsidy and benefits.
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The Board is pleased to present the Directors’ report and audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2019 as follows.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The Company is mainly engaged in properties investment, trading of
natural uranium and other trading. The principal businesses of our
subsidiaries include trading of natural uranium and investment of
natural uranium resources. An analysis of the Group’s business for
the year is set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG

The head office and principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong is located in Room 1903,19/F, China Resources Building,
No. 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

EARNINGS AND DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION

The earnings of the Group for the year of 2019 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 138 and 139 of the annual report.

The Board recommended a payment of final cash dividend of HK1
cent per share for the year 2019 to Shareholders as of the record
date for payment of dividend (2018: HKO.5 cents per share).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy, pursuant to which
allowing Shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits whilst
to retain adequate reserves for future growth. The declaration
and payment of dividends by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the laws of the Cayman Islands, the Articles of
Association and any applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Directors may from time to time determine and pay to the
Shareholders such interim dividends as it considers appropriate. The
Board may recommend the payment of final dividends which are
required to be approved by Shareholders in general meetings.
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The ratio of final dividend distribution for the end of the year is
based on the various factors such as business performance of the
Company, including future cash commitments and investment needs
to sustain long-term business growth and subject to not less than
20% of distributable profits of continuing business.

ANNUAL RESULTS

Details of the Group’s business performance for the year of 2019 and
its analysis are set out in the section “Management Discussion and
Analysis” to this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group during the Reporting Period, the
Group’s exposure to potential risks and uncertainties, significant
events after the end of the reporting date, business prospects,
financial performance and relevant analysis, together with compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the Group are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” to this annual report.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the Reporting Period
are set out on pages 142 and 143 of the annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group are set out in notes 17 and 19 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the major subsidiaries held by the Company are set out in
note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out
in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

During the Reporting Period, the Company didn’t issue or hold any
convertible bonds.
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DIRECTORS

During the Reporting Period and as at the date of this report,
Directors of the Company are as followed:

EDs

Mr. An Junjing
Mr. Chen Deshao

NEDs

Mr. Yu Zhiping
Mr. Sun Xu
Mr. Yin Xiong

INEDs

Mr. Qiu Xianhong
Mr. Gao Pei Ji
Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis

In accordance with Article 112 of the Articles of Association, any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as an
additional Director shall hold office only until the next following general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at
the meeting but shall not be taken into account in determining the
Directors or the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation at
such general meeting.

In accordance with Article 108 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Yu
Zhiping, Mr. An Junjing and Mr. Qiu Xianhong will retire from office by
rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

There is no service contract, which is not terminable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation), in respect of all Directors who are proposed
and offered for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS,
TRANSACTIONS AND ARRANGEMENT

There were no contracts, transactions or arrangements of significance
of the Group in which a Director or an entity connect with a Director
is or was materially interested whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
during or at the end of the Reporting Period.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE BETWEEN
THE GROUP AND THE CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

Particulars of contracts of significance between the Group and the
controlling shareholders are set out under the paragraph headed
“Connected Transactions” in this Directors’ Report.

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITIES

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or about the execution of
the duties of his office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company
has arranged appropriate liability insurance coverage for the Directors
and senior management.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 40 to
44 of the annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2019
amounted to approximately HK$756 million.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association and there was no restriction against such rights under the
laws of the Cayman Islands.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Reporting Period.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “2010 Share
Option Scheme”) at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 2 June 2010. The 2010 Share Option Scheme will remain in
force for a period of 10 years and will expire on 1 June 2020. After
the adoption of the 2010 Share Option Scheme, no share option was
granted.

The 2010 Share Option Scheme

The following disclosure is a summary of the 2010 Share Option
Scheme as required by chapter 17 of the Listing Rules:

(1) Purpose:

The purpose of the 2010 Share Option Scheme is to enable
the Company to grant options to eligible participants (as
defined below) as incentives or rewards for their contribution
to the Company and/or any of the subsidiaries.

2) Participants:

The eligible participants of the 2010 Share Option Scheme to
whom option(s) may be granted by the Board shall include any
employees, NEDs, Directors, suppliers, customers, advisors,
consultants, joint venture partners and any shareholders of
any members of the Group or any invested entities or any
holders of any securities issued by any members of the Group
or any invested entities.

CGN Mining Company Limited
HEKBERERERAT

BEBERE

ERAAEARELBEENG - M
EREEOLEHZSRNBMHRS -

BIER %

BEXUTNEBRARRARFBARRRIKND
A ERNERBRERR

BE HEIWMEXRQFH L
™ 7% 3

ARAREMBARNBESHALEE
B HEFBERARRER LHES -

BRETE

ARRAIR20105F6 A2 A BT RRIASF
K& LHA— R 8 ([2010F AR
TRl - BRERI10F » HH2020F
671828 - RER2010F BB ARREST 2
% WERDEFRERE -

2010 B AR RE 5T 2

TN ARE EMRBE17EHERN2010
FRERREAT I E

(1) =0

2010 BB 2 B RER
RAAARAEERSEE (EERLT
)R ERE - (FREE R EE
WEHARRB R, RER TEATF]
R ERL -

2 BHEE:

AEEFER TEREZ201046F
BRI ER2REREARE
B{ERKE RRIREMEIRE TR
ZEE EMITEE BF - #E
B EP - BRH - EmRA %D
ERH MEAIBR A KBTI
BRAFEAIRIREERAEITE
MREFIEFRAA °



&

4

(5

(6)

Total number of shares available for issue under the
2010 Share Option Scheme and percentage of issued
share capital at the date of approval of the share option
scheme:

The number of shares which can be issued is 155,105,699
shares, representing approximately 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company at the date of approval of the 2010
Share Option Scheme.

Maximum entitlement of each participant:

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted under the 2010 Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
(including exercised, canceled and outstanding options) to
each eligible participant in any 12-month period must not
exceed one percent (1%) of the then total issued share capital
of the Company.

The periods within which the shares must be taken up
under an option:

An option shall be exercisable in whole or in part and in
accordance with the terms of the 2010 Share Option Scheme
at any time during a period to be determined and notified by
the Board to each grantee, which period may commence
on the day on which the offer for the grant of options is
made but shall end in any event not later than ten (10) years
commencing from the date the Board makes an offer of
the grant of an option subject to the provisions for early
termination thereof.

The minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised:

Unless the Directors otherwise determine and state in the
offer of the grant of options to an eligible participant, there
is no minimum period for which an option granted under the
2010 Share Option Scheme must be held before it can be
exercised.

3

(4)

(5

(6)
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(7)

(8

)

The amount payable on application or acceptance of the
option and the period within which payments of calls
must or may be made or loans for such purpose must
be paid:

An offer of grant of an option may be accepted by an eligible
participant within twenty-eight (28) days from the date of the
offer of grant of the option. A consideration of HK$1.00 is
payable on acceptance of the offer of grant of an option.

The basis of determining the exercise price:

Subject to the adjustment made in accordance with the
terms of the 2010 Share Option Scheme, the exercise price
in respect of any particular option shall be such price as
determined by the Board in its absolute discretion at the time
of making the offer of grant of an option (which shall be stated
in the letter containing the offer of grant of an option) but in
any case the exercise price must be at least the highest of (i)
the closing price of shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of the offer of grant, which
must be a trading day; (ii) the average closing price of shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the
five (5) business days immediately preceding the date of the
offer of grant; and (jii) the nominal value of the shares.

The remaining life:

The 2010 Share Option Scheme valid for a period of 10 years
commencing on 2 June 2010 and as of the date of this report,
has a remaining life of approximately 2 months.
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in note 15 of the

consolidated financial statements.

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.cgnmc.com

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

(a)

(b)

The Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short
position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any associated corporation

As at 31 December 2019, none of the Directors and the
chief executives of the Company had any interests or short
positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of
the Company or its associated corporations (as defined in the
part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to divisions 7 and
8 of part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have taken under such
provisions of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein, or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Substantial Shareholders’ and other person’s interests
and short positions in the shares, underlying shares of
the Company

As at 31 December 2019, according to the register of
substantial Shareholders kept by the Company pursuant to
section 336 of the SFO and so far as is known to, or can
be ascertained after reasonable enquiry by the Directors,
the following persons/entities, other than a Director or chief
executive of the Company, had an interest or short position
in the Shares and underlying Shares and debentures of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO:
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Name of Shareholder

BRE®

Substantial Shareholder
TERFE

Number of Shares

Capacity (Note 1)
REEE

% (R¥E1)

CGNPC (Notes 2, 3, 4 & 5) Interest in controlled corporations 4,467,887,558(L)

PEGEELNR (32 - 3 4R5) AR

CGNPC-URC (Notes 2, 4 & 6) Interest in a controlled corporation 4,288,695,652(L)

HEGHEERE (152 - 416) R EBER

China Uranium Development (Notes 4 & 7) Beneficial owner 4,288,695,652(L)

TEIEERE (4 RT) EREBA

Other Shareholders

AiE

Hong Kong Xinmao (Note 8) Beneficial owner 659,400,000(L)

EBER (3Es) ERHBA

Hainan Mining (Note 8) Interest in a controlled corporation 659,400,000(L)

R (ME2s) XA

Shanghai Fosun Industrial Investment Co., Ltd. (Note 8) Interest in a controlled corporation 659,400,000(L)

LBEREFREBRAR (HEs) XA g

Shanghai Fosun High Technology (Group) Co., Ltd. Interest in a controlled corporation 659,400,000(L)
(Note 8)

HEEERRE (KB BR A (fi3s) XA

Fosun International Limited (Note 8) Interest in a controlled corporation 659,400,000(L)

EEHRBRAF (H:E8) EEBER

Fosun Holdings Limited (Note 8) Interest in a controlled corporation 659,400,000(L)

BEERERAT (i) XA

Fosun International Holdings Ltd. (Note 8) Interest in a controlled corporation 659,400,000(L)

BEBARERERAR (M) XA

Guo Guangchang (Note 8) Interest in a controlled corporation 659,400,000(L)

ZE 8 (F3k8) REEBER

Hainan Haigang Group Co., Ltd. (Note 8) Interest in a controlled corporation 659,400,000(L)

B EREEERAR (Hizs) XEEERER

State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration  Interest in a controlled corporation 659,400,000(L)
Gommission of Hainan Province (Note 8)

BELRNAEEEEEEREZE2 (iis) SR

CGN Mining Company Limited
PEREXRARAF

Approximate
percentage

of Shareholders
(Note 1)
BARREDL
(RitE1)

67.69%()

64.97%()

64.97%I(L)

9.99%(L)

9.99%()

9.99%(L)

9.99%(L)

9.99%(L)

9.99%()

9.99%(L)

9.99%(L)

9.99%(L)

9.99%(L)



Notes:

The letter “L” denotes long position.

CGNPC held the entire equity interest in CGNPC-URC, and CGNPC-URC held
the entire issued share capital of China Uranium Development. Accordingly,
each of CGNPC and CGNPC-URC was deemed to be interested in the interest
in the Company held by China Uranium Development.

CGNPC was also interested in 179,191,906 Shares in other wholly-owned
subsidiaries.

The long position included (i) 4,278,695,652 Shares held by China Uranium
Development; and (i) the interests in 10,000,000 Shares charged by a third
party.

Mr. Yin Xiong, and Mr. Sun Xu, NEDs, are also employees of CGNPC.

Mr. Yu Zhiping, Mr. Yin Xiong and Mr. Sun Xu, NEDs, and Mr. An Junjing, an
ED, are also directors of CGNPC-URC. Mr. An Junjing and Mr. Chen Deshao,
EDs, are also employees of CGNPC-URC.

Mr. Chen Deshao, an ED, is also a director of China Uranium Development.

According to the information provided by Guo Guangchang and the State-
owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of Hainan Province
(“Hainan SASAC”), Hainan Mining was the sole shareholder of Hong Kong
Xinmao, and Hong Kong Xinmao was the beneficial owner of 659,400,000
Shares. Hainan Mining was owned as to 35% by Hainan Haigang Group Co.,
Ltd. (“Hainan Haigang”) and 54% by Shanghai Fosun High Technology (Group)
Co., Ltd. (“Fosun High Technology”) (including 18% directly held by Fosun High
Technology and 36% held by its wholly-owned subsidiary, Shanghai Fosun
Industrial Investment Co., Ltd. (“Fosun Industrial”)). Hainan Haigang was wholly-
owned by Hainan SASAC. Fosun High Technology was wholly-owned by Fosun
International Limited and Fosun International Limited was owned as to 71.55%
by Fosun Holdings Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fosun International
Holdings Ltd., which was held as to 64.45% by Guo Guangchang.

Accordingly, each of Hainan Mining, Hainan Haigang, Hainan SASAC, Fosun
Industrial, Fosun High Technology, Fosun International Limited, Fosun Holdings
Limited, Fosun International Holdings Ltd. and Guo Guangchang was deemed
to be interested in the Shares held by Hong Kong Xingmao.

Directors’ Report

EEEHRE

L) RKEFE -

TEREEATRETERMEERODE
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FEZEEQARTREMEZENBAREA
#9179,191,906f% B 0 P HE B A 2x ©

ZEREE WTEBEERBEED
4,278,695,652 %17 + Ju(ii)— % 58 =77 ##7
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£ RMTESREBEENETEZME
BEROES  MATEFREREERRE
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REEZFEMNISH REL2ENB AR LE
BEEEREARAR(BEEEENEEN
36%) ° BREMMmENEEZ2EHE - &
ERREREEARERARZERA - M
EREBRAERARIABELZERERAR(E
EEBRERERAANE2EHBAREE
71.55% * EEBRIZERBRARHEBESH
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Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any person
as at 31 December 2019 who had an interest or short position in the
Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE THE COMPANY'’S
SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the Company, or any
of its holding companies or subsidiaries, or any fellow subsidiaries, a
party to any arrangement enables the Directors or chief executives of
the Company or their respective associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) to have any right to subscribe for securities of the Company or
any of its associated corporations as defined in the SFO or to acquire
benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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B EXXCFTIEEESN - B Z=2019F 12 A 31
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AERS
Continuing Connected Transaction BEBERS

ARRBFIYETHEBER ZWE - &
SHAFEEEISNATERDT :

The Group entered into certain continuing connected transactions
agreements and details of the continuing connected transactions
during the Reporting Period are set out as below:

Transaction
party of the
Group

Name of
agreement, date
and term

Nature of transaction
and description

Annual cap/
transaction amount
EELR/
EBR548

Counterparty T IER]

EEEE
AARAR

AREREL REHL  REHERER EEER

The Existing The Company

Sales Framework
Agreement was
entered into on 6
December 2016,
with a term from 1
January 2017 to 31
December 2019

RRAMBERSR
1BER2016F 127
BRI - A :
2017F1R1BZ
20195128318

The Existing
Financial Service
Framework
Agreement was
entered into on 6
December 2016,
with a term from 1
January 2017 to 31
December 2019

The Company

CGNPC-URC
(controling

Shareholder of
the Company)

TREERRE
R(ARANE
R

CGNPC
Huasheng (a
wholly-owned
Subsidiary of
the controlling
Shareholder of
the Company)

The sale of natural
uranium to CGNPC-URC
Group by the Group

AEELERAHTH
B %REE

The Group shall
authorise its third party
commercial bank to fink
the account of the Group
as participant account
to a cash pooling master
settlement account
maintained by CGNPC
Huasheng in the same
third party commercial
bank, which allows auto-
transfer of cash balance
in the participant
account to the cash
pooling master account.
The sums transferred
to CGNPC Huasheng
constitute money
deposited by the Group
with CGNPC Huasheng.

CGNPC Huasheng
provides settlement
service and grants
loans and facilities
(if necessary) to the
Company.

The price per pound of natural uranium shall be determined
with reference to the arithmetic average prices of the long-
term price index published by UxC and TradeTech in the
second month prior to the delivery month, and reached
after arm's length negotiation between the Group and
relevant members of CGNPC-URC Group, subject to a
floor price and a ceiling price.

RABEEEREZUCKTradeTechA R ARHFIE
EANEBEREENENTAE - TAASEETEY
BXUREERERE QA ANATERKER - BR
BREERITEE-

The interest payable by CGNPC Huasheng to the
Company shall be equal to or higher than (1) the relevant
interest rate offered by CGNPC Huasheng to other
members of the CGN Group in similar arrangement; and (2)
the deposits interest rate as quoted by other independent
commercial banks in Hong Kong from time to time in
similar arrangement. Settlement and similar services
fees shall be (1) equal to or lower than the settlement
and similar services fees charged by CGNPC Huasheng
to other members of the CGN Group in settlement
services arrangements; and (2) equal to or lower than the
settlement and similar services fees as announced by
other independent commercial banks in Hong Kong from
time to time for seftlement and similar services provided by
CGNPC Huasheng.

HK$2,620,000,000/
HK$377,253,000

2,620,000,00087T,/
377,253 00078 7T

Deposit cap:
USD480,000,000

Highest daily deposit:
USD158,269,985

Annual Report 2019
—E-NEFFR

83



Directors’ Report

EEEHRE

Name of
agreement, date
and term
EE2E
AHR R

Group

FHBREERR A0
E102016F1256

BT B
201751R1BE
20195128318

3 The Domestic The Company

Financial Service
Framework
Agreement was
entered into on
5 September 2017,
with a term from
5 September 2017
to 31 December
2019

BREBRBER A0
BER2017E9A5

Bl A0
201759850
2019E12/31A

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Transaction
party of the

AERSH

Counterparty

CGN Finance
(subsidlary of
the controlling
Shareholder of
the Company)

RGN
(RRTER
RRZHER
)

Nature of transaction
and description

RAMER L

ASERERES =
AERTNRPIERS
RERPHRETEN
FRER-FE=NE
XRTEENRDE
LERP AN2EE
EPHNELHERDE
SEROHREER

FoBRTHENER
MEBREAARERE
RPEVERNEE -

PERERRALTR
HERRERERRE
B EHMR AR -

CGN Finance provides
the Group with domestic
financial services in the
PRC, including deposits,
loans, financing and
settlement services.

PREER S ERR
SERENE BRI
BREFERN &5
BEREER -

Pricing basis

EEER

hREEEXNALARE NSRRI RS
ERBRZATRTERUEEE T AR B DARME A
% RERREMEUAFROERER T BT
AR - BERFRRHRASRAERN REZRE
RERBRA AR ARGEEE T AR B A TRRZ
RERFBRHRR : ROFNAEREEBUBRRT
PERERRH AR RARRE TR REE KRR
REER -

The interest payable by CGN Finance to the Company
shall be equal to or higher than (1) the interest rates
prescrived by the People’s Bank of China for the same
type of deposit in the same period; (2) the deposit interest
rates offered by Agricultural Bank of China, Bank of China,
China Construction Bank and Industrial and Commercial
Bank of China (the “China’s Big-Four Commercial Banks’)
to the service recipient for the same type of deposit in the
same period; and (3) the deposit interest rates provided by
the CGN Finance to the CGN for the same type of deposit
inthe same period.

The fees charged by CGN Finance for the provision of
seftlement services shall be in compliance with the fees
standard prescribed by the People’s Bank of China or the
China Banking Regulatory Commission in respect of such
services. If no such fees standard is available, the service
fees shall not higher than (1) the fees charged by China’s
Big-Four Commercial Banks or other financial institutions
in the PRC for the same type of financial services; and
2) the fees charged by GGN Finance for the provision of
simiar type of financial services to the CGN.

PERIBX AR AN S RERIER(FEARRLT
REARARERABZNE  QRERERT TER
1 PERERTRPEIERT(FERARERT))
RAEE R RS R REEE R - R(E)T
BRABR AR REE R AR B R ERAE «

Annual cap/
transaction amount
EELR/
ENR5EH

B LR
480,000,000% 7

BEEARL:
158,269,985 7T

Deposit cap:
RMB60,000,000
Settlement service
cap:
RMB,000,000/

Highest daily deposit:
RMB4,105,122,

and no settlement
service fee has been
charged.

FHLR
60,000,000 A R
REREE LR :
1000,00A K/

BRERER:
4105122 \EH
BB E R

g o
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Name of Transaction
agreement, date  party of the Nature of transaction Annual cap/
and term Group Counterparty and description Pricing basis transaction amount

EELE EELR/
AR AR ARERSS RG8E RAMHEREL EEER ERR5 2R

hREAHRLEEREAR BRRETREARR
T ERTFEEERRRENASRBN L BN
BE - WERRBEMERE  AERKETRENT
BEUARESRTAT AL LR ERARREURNE
B RQmREEBRT REREENSBRELROE
=

4 Tenancy Agreement Beijjing Sino- ~ CGNPC-URC  Beijing Sino- The annual rent of RMB 3,000,000 (tax inclusive) as RMB3,000,000/
was entered into Kazakh (controling Kazakh leases 29/F, stipulated in the Tenancy Agreement, which in turn RMB3,000,000

on 9 May 2019, shareholderof Block A, Shi’ao was determined after taking into account: (i) the then
with a term from 1 the Company) International Center, market rentals and management fees payable for similar
January 2019 to 31 101 Shaoyaoyu North properties; and (i) the demand and supply of similar
December 2021 Lane, Chaoyang District, - properties on the market.

Beiing to CGNPC-URC.
The total gross area
of leased property is

1,035.14 8g. m..
YN RERE RERRE  RPRESUNME  AERERTOEFEELB00ETARE(EH) - BE 3000000 ARE
201955498 BR(ADR THBEENERLEIN BeAZE() EUNFERTANEREEE: R()EL  3000000TARE
i B 2019 PRRE)  SURERGOAE  ERTSHEIEAER
I AIRE0215 ENEELBATER
128318 WELE - HERER

AfELEH,035.14F5

%K 0
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One-off connected transaction —RMHRBEERS
Details of one-off connected transaction entered during Reporting WEBANGI I — X EBEER SFBN
Period are as follows: ™

Transaction
party of the
Group
REERAA

Name of
agreement
and date

E VL

Nature of transaction and
Counterparty description

RAHEREE

Transaction amount

Pricing basis

EEEH

1 Sales and Purchase  CGN Global
Agreement of
Husab Uranium
Concentrates dated
14 June 2019

Swakop CGN Global shall buy and Swakop The purchase price per unit Assuming no exercise of the
(subsidliary of  shall sell 1.55 million Ibs of Husab under the Sales and Purchase quantity adjustment rights, the total
the controling  uranium concentrates (with the Agreement of Husab Uranium purchase price of the Husab uranium
shareholder of - quantity adjustment right to increase  Concentrates, which is based concentrates is USD79,316,250.
the Company)  or decrease purchase quantity by a on the sales price received by Assuming full exercise of the

maximum of 10% exerciseable by the  CGN Global from its customers, quantity adjustment rights (i.e.

Company), which shall be delivered neta 2.5% discount rate.

in batches over a period of seven
years from 2019 in accordance with

purchase quantity increase or
decrease by 10%), the maximum
and minimum total purchase prices

of Husab uranium concentrates

will be USD87,247,875 and

USD71,384,625, respectively.
/ﬁﬂuﬁ \MEEBBEATNEG BRERTEHSHRE  HLRA

the stipulated delivery schedule.

MURRHEED +REERY FHARE  GREARBELTRERRAN

#R019F6R14  BAT NABERR DARLEIOEERMLAAN EUREE ARPENER #EREEH79,316,250%XT ¢
AT ZHERE)  RAAZRERERENSAS SEAANURFFMAZE BRASHTRETANK (DR

BEERL10%)  UHHHANRA B NB25%MTNERE ESEMAH D 10%) - HLKA

iE E0I9FRALEANESE  Eo BNEESRRELRBENI A

ffo 8_7,247,875%73&71,384,625%
7[]0

86 CGN Mining Company Limited
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Continuing connected transactions with term commencing BERBERNSERERS
after the Reporting Period

REERN - AEEFI MO mERET &
connected transactions agreements with their terms commencing SHIFERERSHER EAEBEEN
after the Reporting Period, details of which are as follows: :

isig

During the Reporting Period, the Group entered into two continuing

- =

Name of Transaction
agreement, date  party of the Nature of transaction
and term Group Counterparty and description Pricing basis Annual cap
&R A58
AR R Bk BERAUE RHMEREL EEER EELR
1 The New Sales TheCompany CGNPC-URC The sale of natural The price per pound of natural uranium shall be 2020:
Framework (controlling uraniumto CGNPC-URC  determined by arm’s length negotiation bstween the  HK$1,960,000,000
Agreement was shareholder of Group by the Group. ~ Group and relevant members of CGNPC-URC Group,
entered into on the Company)) with reference to the arithmetic average prices of the long- 2021;
14 June 2019, term price index published by UxC and TradeTech in the  HK$2,035,000,000
with a term from 1 second month prior to the delivery month, subject to a
January 2020 to 31 floor price and a ceiling price. 2022:
December 2022 HK$2,283,000,000
CrEgERE) ~20 TERAFE ASELERRHTY RRAMEREREASEETERNEERBEHNE 2020:
2019567147 E(ARAR BERHEREEE:  DR2EUCKTradeTechR R ANFZ-_MAHEE 196000000057
HIE-E ¢ HRARR) BRIEENEMTHEE - ATERET  TRERER
202061A1R% RHBEE- 2021;
20225128318 2,035,000,000% 7T
2022:
2,283,000,000/8 7T
Annual Report 2019 87
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Name of Transaction
agreement, date  party of the
and term Group
iE 8 A58
RERER RBA

Nature of transaction

Counterpartylies) and description Pricing basis Annual cap

BERZHL RSMEREL EEEHR FELR

88

2 The New Financial The Company
Senvices Framework
Agreement was
entered into on
14 June 2019,
with a term from 1
January 2020 to 31

December 2022

CGN Mining Company Limited

REZEXARAT

CGN Finance
and CGNPC
Huasheng
(subsidiaries of
the controlling
Shareholder of
the Company)

The Group shall set
up and maintain RMB
and foreign currency
deposit accounts with
CGN Finance and place
deposit. The Group
shall also authorise the
Group’s accounts at
third party commercial
banks outside the
PRC to be linked as a
participant account to
a cash pooling master
settlement account
maintained by CGNPC
Huasheng, which allows
auto-transfer of cash
balance in the Group’s
participating accounts to
the cash pooling master
account. The sums
transferred to the cash
pooling master account
constitute money
deposited by the Group
with CGNPC Huasheng.

CGN Finance and
CGNPC Huasheng may
provide settlement and
similar services and
grant loans and other
facilities to the Group
from time to time.

Deposit services: The interest payable by CGN Finance to
the Group shall not be lower than (| the interest rates for
the same type and term of depostt offered by China’s Big-
Four Commercial Banks to the Group and (i) the interest
rates for the same type and term of deposit provided by
CGN Finance to the other PRC subsidiaries of the CGN
Group. The interest payable by CGNPC Huasheng to the
Group shall be equal to or higher than () the interest rate
for similar type of deposit offered by CGNPC Huasheng to
other members of the CGN Group; and (i the interest rate
for similar type of deposit as quoted by other independent
commercial banks in Hong Kong (such as Industrial and
Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited and Bank of
China (Hong Kong) Limited) from time to time.

Settlement services: The fees charged by CGN Finance for
the provision of seftlement services shall be in accordance
with the fees standards prescribed by the People’s Bank
of China or China Banking and Insurance Regulatory
Commission in respect of such services. If no such fees
standard is available, the service fees shall be determined
on normal commercial terms and not higher than (i) the
fees charged by China’s Big-Four Commercial Banks in
the PRC for the same type of financial services; and (i) the
fees charged by CGN Finance for the provision of similar
type of financial services to the other PRC subsidiaries
within the CGN Group. The fees charged by CGNPC
Huasheng shall be (i) equal to o lower than the settlement
and similar services fees charged by CGNPC Huasheng to
other members of the CGN Group in settlement services
arrangements; and (i) equal to or lower than the settlement
and similar services fees charged by other commercial
banks in Hong Kong (such as Industrial and Commercial
Bank of China (Asia) Limited and Bank of China (Hong
Kong) Limited) from time to time for settlement and simiar
services provided.

Deposit cap:
2020
US§500,000,000

2021:
US§500,000,000

2022:
US$300,000,000

Settlement service
cap:
1US$300,000



Name of
agreement, date
and term
EE2E
AHRHR

(FyBREESRR
20201956714
BET - B
02051 A1HE
20006128318

Transaction

party of the

Group Counterparty(ies)

A58

RBA BERZHA

YN PEGEER
NEGER
(RRaER
R HEA
l)

Nature of transaction
and description

AR

AEER T EGHBH
B REARE RSN
EREFYLHR K%
BT REARRERS
F=RBERTOEP
(FR2EERPAKE
PERZERANR S
BREERP - AFA
SE2ERFHEASH
REDEEEADHA
EERF-E8aThe
HREERFPHEER
RASEEERTRR
FENR -

hEGHB R EGE
B TR AR
BERABEURE -
RHERREGRE -
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Pricing basis

ERER

RERR : PRUABRNNAEEZHREAER ()P
BENABERTHABRREN A RER N |
QrERIBARSRERR AT EERE EE T AT
EMBATRENHE - DRGERENTEE2FIZH
ERARN() P ERERRRUER AT ERR S B
TRMAEARRENE  RBREMBUBFRT
(b ETARST (SN ARD AR ERST (BR) AR
DR BN R A2 R -

RERE : PEGIBRHAERENERARRPEA
REMIPERTRBEEEEZASHABRBM LA
MIRERRLE - MEABRERR  ARBERAL—
RAEZAINER - AR FERABR RIS
REMRRNZR : KT ERHBRREEURH RS
ARZEENAMTANBELARURNER - RENE
BB ERESNRER P REERATERYE
B AR BN ARMRNESREMURCER : &
REEEMERXETMPEIHET (EHERAAR
RERTT(BR)ARAR) IR R AR RENREE
Be

Annual cap

FELR

FARLR:
2020:
500,000,000%7

2021
500,000,000

2020:
300,000,000%7t

HERBELR -
300,000
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Annual review of continuing connected transactions

The INEDs of the Company have reviewed and confirmed the
continuing connected transactions set out above are:

1. in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
2. on normal commercial terms or better; and
38 entered into in accordance with the relevant agreement

governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

The external auditor of the Company has also reviewed these
continuing connected transactions and confirmed to the Board that
these transactions:

1. have been approved by the Board;

2. have been entered into in accordance with the relevant
agreement governing the transactions;

3. are in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group (if
the transactions involve provision of goods or services by the
Group); and

4. have not exceeded the relevant annual caps disclosed in

previous announcements.

The Board acknowledged the receipt of the auditors’ confirmation
letter dated 26 March 2020 which confirms the matters as required
by Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

NOTIFIABLE TRANSACTIONS

Save for the New Financial Service Framework Agreement disclosed
as item 2 under the paragraph headed “Connected Transactions —
Continuing connected transactions with term commencing after the
Reporting Period” in this Directors’ Report, the Company did not
enter into any notifiable transaction that needs to be disclosed during
the Reporting Period in accordance with Chapter 14 of the Listing
Rules.

CGN Mining Company Limited
HEKBERERERAT

RHEBRERSZNFEEN

RRRVBMIFATEETDERN L8
MER S WHERZEFEMEZIIR
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3. REEERSRINEEHE B
AFARRAARDFRREBF
RO BERATL ©

AATSNEERAE BHREHERER
5 AMEFERARSRS -
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into certain transactions with “related parties”
as defined under the applicable accounting standards during
the Reporting Period, details of which is set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements. Save for purchases of natural
uranium resources from Semizbay-U and the dividend income
received from Semizbay-U, all the other related party transactions
constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions of the Company, including certain fully exempt
connected transactions, and the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules, where applicable.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of purchases and sales attributable to the Group’s
major suppliers and customers are as follows:

Purchases Sales
—the largest supplier: 16% —the largest customer: 18%

— five largest suppliers: 58% — five largest customers: 55%

China Uranium Development, the controlling shareholder, is the
largest customer of the Company. Mr. An Junjing, an ED and the
chief executive officer of the Company, Mr. Chen Deshao, an ED
and the chief financial officer of the Company, Mr. Yu Zhiping, a
NED and chairman of the Company, Mr. Yin Xiong, a NED, were
the directors and/or the senior management of CGNPC-URC, the
holding Company of China Uranium Development, at different times
during 2019; and Mr. Sun Xu, a NED, has been appointed as a
director of CGNPC-URC in 2020. Save as disclosed above, none
of the Directors, their associates or any Shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s
share capital) had an interest in the five largest suppliers or customers
of the Group of the Reporting Period.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the Reporting Period, the Company (as service receiver)
and CGNPC-URC entered into “Shared Administrative Services
Agreement” for providing shared administrative services to the
Company by CGNPC-URC.

Directors’ Report
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BEALRS

BEHR  ARERRBEEERERN
[BEBALIRIVETRS  #IFEHNERE
FATEERRMITES4 © BRIEH R AIBRE R A o
KREHRREOREBWASN - BB PG R
BALXRZHBRARANBEI SR
BRERS (HhEfaafenlER
%) NRARIERB EMRRIFE14ATHRE
ETWEEK(ER)

FEFFRHER

AEETEHREARTPAERE MHE
ZBELIT

BE HE
—HAHERE 16% —FARFS : 18%
—RAARHER :58% —FAAEF :55%

RARRBEARES BIERAR R B shZE T
B ARABMITEZRERNITELE
BEE BITEEREFMEEREAEL
o ERITEEREFRETEE - B
TE BRI ENE2019FE T RERE AF
BlEBREZENARERMERRES
/SBRERE  MIERTESHBIL
ER2020F BE T AP ERMERECE
F o R EMEEIN  WEEE  HBEBA
R MIRE B AEREB AR ARAS%
A ERERBEHARER A AHER
AEFHRARER -

% IE% ll"‘J

WEHA - ARR](ERZAREN) &P
EizdEE R RERAERETRAR
MRISRT LKA ZTHURG %)
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CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS OR ITS
SUBSIDIARIES

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no contracts of
significance or material contracts on provision of services between
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the Company’s controlling
shareholders or any of its subsidiaries during the Reporting Period.

OTHERS

Environmental Protection

The Company, as a green energy affiliate, pays high attention to
environmental protection. We vigorously promotes environmental
protection by promoting green, energy saving and environmental
protection concept, such as advocating the green office, encouraging
the replacement of paper document with electronic document, the use
of double-sided printing and eco-friendly appliances, etc.

Relationship with Suppliers and Customers

During the Reporting Period, the Company maintained a good
relationship with its suppliers and customers.

Social Participation

The Company actively participates in social charity, encourages and
organizes employees to participate in the “Love” activities such as
helping and visiting people in need. At the same time, Semizbay-U,
an investee company of the Company, contributes funds to help
needy students in need near the mine to complete their studies,
provide employment opportunities and support the development
of local communities. It also promised to donate USD1 to the local
government for urban infrastructure for every kilogram of natural
uranium produced.

Equal Opportunity and Diversity

The Company respects and treats every employee the same, and
promotes equal opportunity and policy of diversification regardless of
age, sex or marital status.

Compliance with laws and regulations

During the Reporting Period and thereafter and up to the date of this
report, to the knowledge of the Directors, the Group complied in all
material aspects with applicable laws, rules and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Group.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, save as disclosed in the paragraph
headed “Biographies of Directors” in the Corporate Governance
Report of this annual report, none of the Directors and their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had an interest in any
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the Reporting Period, the Company has not entered into any
equity-linked agreement.

DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not make charitable
donations.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s issued
shares has been held by the public throughout the Reporting Period
and thereafter up to the date of this report, in compliance with the
requirements under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2019 have been audited by SHINEWING (HK) CPA
Limited.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

Based on the preliminary assessment of the Board on information
available, the coronavirus disease outbreaking in late January 2020
has no significant negative impact on the Group’s operation. The
Company will closely monitor and evaluate the situation and take
appropriate measures as appropriate.

By Order of the Board
Yu Zhiping

Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2020
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Enterprise Environmental, Social and Governance Report
TERE - HERERRE

1.

OUR REPORT

1.1.

1.2,

The Group’s Vision and Mission

The Company has been committed to becoming a world-
class nuclear fuel supplier that provides safe, economical
and reliable nuclear fuel products and services for nuclear
power plants. The Company strives to create a more
prosperous and sustainable society, and hopes to bring
long-term benefits to the society while pursuing good
business performance and sustained growth.

In order to realize the Group’s corporate social
responsibility vision, we have established a set of core
values of corporate social responsibility that reflect our
value orientation of “responsibility”, “rigorousness and
practicality”, “innovation”, “customer-oriented” and
“creating value”. We manage all our production and
operational activities based on the Group’s decision-
making standards and the basic principles of “safety first”,
“quality foremost” and “pursuing excellence”, in order to
lead the Group towards its core value of “Doing Things

Right in One Go”.

Reporting Scope and Reporting Period

This report reviews the performance and effectiveness
of the Group in implementing its social responsibility
strategy during the period from 1 January 2019 to 31
December 2019, and is prepared in accordance with
the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide (the “Guide”) of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). This report complies
with the “comply or explain” provisions and reports on all
recommended disclosures of the Guide.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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1.3.

1.4.

TERR - HERER

This environmental, social and governance report covers
the Group’s operating sites in the United Kingdom, Hong
Kong, and the operating sites of Semizbay-U, in which
the Company holds a 49% equity interest, as well as the
two mines under its management, Semizbay Mine and
Irkol Mine (hereafter mentioned as the “Mines”). Although
Semizbay-U is not a subsidiary of the Company and its
Mines are not directly operated by the Group, staff of the
Group has been sent to participate in its management and
control. In view of its significant impact on the Group’s
operation, it is included in the scope of this report.

Feedback Mechanism

We welcome comments and suggestions from readers
on our corporate social responsibility reporting. Whether
you are customers, business partners, public, media or
social groups, your comments and suggestions can help
determine and reinforce the Group’s future sustainability
strategy. Please contact us via email at ir.cgnmc@cgnpc.
com.cn.

Reporting Principles

We have taken the following reporting principles into
account in development of this report:

Materiality: We regularly communicate with our
stakeholders to better understand their concerns relating
to sustainability issues that affect them. We also make
regular reference to our peers and both local and regional
sustainability criteria when we review our sustainability
context, materiality and disclosures in order to keep our
sustainability priorities and strategy relevant.

Quantitative: Our data collection and analysis for the
report were based on relevant guidelines and standards,
such as ISO 14064 for our greenhouse gas emissions
reporting and the guidelines issued by the Government
of HKSAR for energy and carbon audits for our buildings.
Furthermore, figures may not add up to the total due to
rounding.
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Balance: We aim to keep our report balanced and make
fair disclosures on critical aspects of our performance,
both in terms of progress made and continuing challenges
that we are dealing with.

Consistency: Since 2017, we have reported in
accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide of the Stock
Exchange, which allows year-to-year comparison with our
previous performance.

MESSAGE FROM THE MANAGEMENT

The Group is delighted to introduce the ESG Report 2019
which is the third ESG Report of the Group. Looking back,
the Group always adheres to five basic value orientation of

» oo« » oo«

“responsibility”, “rigorousness and practicality”, “innovation”,

“customer-oriented” and “creating value”, in order to realize
its vision to become a world-class nuclear fuel supplier, and
achieve the corporate mission to provide nuclear power plants

with safe, economic and reliable nuclear fuel and services.

Responsibility

We believe that building a sustainable future for the earth leads
to the responsible growth of our business. Accordingly, the
Board takes ultimate responsibility for sustainable development
of the Group. The Board is tasked with formulating policies and
strategies, and ensuring environmental, social and governance
risks are integrated into the Group’s risk management
mechanisms and long-term business plans.

Rigorousness and practicality

At the operational level, business units and departments
constantly track operational performance and ensure
compliance with all applicable laws and regulations.

CGN Mining Company Limited
HEKBERERERAT
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Innovation

We continue to search for ways to improve our business.
Integrating technology is a large part of the innovation efforts we
currently have underway. In the past, through initiating various
environmental management projects, the Mines achieved
pollution reduction and natural resources conservation. For
example, the gasoline-fuelled administrative vehicles at the
headquarters of the Mines in Kazakhstan were converted to run
on natural gas, to cut the consumption of diesel and gasoline
and reduce the emissions of sulphur dioxide and other exhaust
gases and carbon dioxide caused by the consumption of diesel
and gasoline.

Customer oriented

We always adhere to the basic principles of “safety first”, “quality
foremost” and “pursuing excellence”, and strive to deliver
products and services that attain the highest levels of safety
and quality. The Group has formulated strict quality and safety
policies providing clear basis for all its operations, so as to
enhance the quality and efficiency of work.

Creating value

In a context where the sector is undergoing deep
transformations, the Group is consolidating its employee
training programmes. It is important for us to ensure that our
employees can develop and update their skills throughout their
careers.
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Lastly, | would like to take this opportunity to thank all staff
members for their efforts in fast-tracking the implementation of
all enhancement policies in our management throughout the
last year. Going forward, we will consistently seek ways to do
things better, especially uncovering new opportunities to grow
our business and make it more resilient.

An Junjing
Chief Executive Officer
CGN Mining Company Limited

26 March 2020

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

The Group understands that effective and continuous listening
to stakeholders’ opinions and responding to and addressing
their concerns are indispensable for its business development
and the fulfilment of its corporate social responsibility. As such,
we endeavour to get a deep understanding of the concerns
of different stakeholders, and build a relationship of mutual
trust and mutual benefit with them to promote sustainable
development.

According to the requirements of the Listing Rules, we regularly
disclose the Company’s operating performance and project
progress on the Company’s website (www.cgnmc.com) and
the information disclosure website designated by the Stock
Exchange (HKEXnews: www.hkexnews.hk). All disclosures are
prepared and published in accordance with the requirements
of the Listing Rules. In addition, when receiving inquiries from
investors, the Company will promptly get in touch with them
and invite them to visit the Company or attend teleconferences
where the Company will answer their questions to help them
understand its operating information. Meanwhile, the Company
holds roadshows in various forms such as results presentations
to introduce the latest information of the Company from time to
time and invites investor representatives, potential investors and
analysts to attend the roadshows.

CGN Mining Company Limited
HEKBERERERAT
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After the communication with the stakeholders, we identified KOREFS Y E KB BE - RIHEA
the following aspects recognized as the key concerns to LA THIEE AR ASEE I FFER
the Group’s sustainability, which substantially impact the REERTVENTE BLEAFED
sustainability of the Group. WH AREE I RFERRNERE

JERRI

Environmental Aspects Social Aspects
BRIRAE #ESM|E
° Pollution Control o Equal Employment
TE AR FEER
o Making Good Use of Resources o Operational Health and Safety
ZRBR BEREELZE
° Promoting Green Operations ° Training and Development
EBgEEE HilERE
. Protection of Rights and Interests
R RIE
o Supply Chain Management
HrEgEER
. Quiality Products
BEEMm
° Corporate Governance
BRI
o Giving Back to Society
ElEE 1t @

4. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 4. BE -dE2RERRE
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE

4.1. Environmental Protection 41. BERR

Management approaches and policies EEG T REE

Environmental protection is an integral part of the Group’s RERESNEE I FERR
holistic approach to sustainable development. In our BEERES R DA S BRAy — &6
environmental work, the Group is not only committed to o ERERIERE - AR
complying with regulatory requirements, but also actively TMEWFERENR - BEHHE
promoting sustainable development, making good use of PRAFERRE  SHAEAN
natural energy and providing clean, stable and safe fuel e RUERERT - BE
products and services to the society. The Group carefully MR 2WREER KR - &
considers its impact on the environment in the process (R a3 A= oIS AN
of business development, to minimize our environmental LESHRBENTZE  BRE
footprint while making positive contribution to the ERBHEMERBFERNT
environment. 2 WEAKARRREEDR

J%ﬁ °
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The Group strictly complies with all applicable

environmental laws and regulations. During the Reporting

Period, there were no cases of violation of the relevant

regulations or code of conduct within the Company.

4.1.1.Pollution Control

The Group acknowledges its responsibility to reduce
emissions and has implemented a number of policy
initiatives in relation to environmental management
to monitor and manage the emissions generated
during the Group’s operations. The Group has also
appointed relevant personnel to ensure its emission
level meets the relevant national standards.

Exhaust control

The Company is committed to reducing the impact
of its business operations on neighbouring regions.
We require all operating sites to strictly comply with
local laws on exhaust emissions. The Mines have
obtained an exhaust emission permit issued by
Kazakhstan’s environmental protection authority,
and regularly conduct exhaust emission tests to
ensure that the exhaust emissions do not exceed
the emission standards stipulated by the relevant
laws and regulations.

CGN Mining Company Limited

HEKBERERERAT

& B BARE TP A EARIRIR
EBIFDER - mEHA - KA
WEZRRERTANERTR
MEAESR -

4.1.1.5R 2%

AEBERABERMDR
LHRY  XEEE
ZHEBEERRR
Bt RERREENR
SEEEREL ZHN
Yo AEETRE REM
B A B IARELR AL HE I

KFEFEHEBBEARE
% o

+

ERFE R
SEARB D EBEE

TR TE - &
PIERE L EHEIRE
e & b A BE R RBE IR
ED - WS B EISR
P& 7o Hi 1B AT IR 4R 2B
P9 AT 3% H B0 B8 SR PR BRRT
A] - A E HETTRE R BE
PRl - VARE LR BE R BE
METBEEBNER
ERRTE R UER -



Enterprise Environmental, Social and Governance Report

TRBR 4 EgRERRE

The air pollutants emitted by the Mines mainly come
from fuel consumption during operations and by
vehicles. It is crucial to implement emission control
measures to reduce the environmental impacts
and protect the health of employees. The Mines
gradually upgrade machinery and transportation
equipment by replacing diesel or gasoline with
natural gas to cut the consumption of diesel and
gasoline and reduce the emissions of sulphur
dioxide and other exhaust gases and carbon
dioxide caused by the consumption of diesel and
gasoline. During the Reporting Period, the gasoline-
fuelled administrative vehicles at the headquarters
of the Mines were converted to run on natural gas.

During the Reporting Period, air pollutant emissions
generated were as follows:

Air pollutant emissions

ERITRIEHE

Nitrogen Oxides kg
AR T
Sulphur Dioxide kg
k=¥ 7 TR
Particulate Matter kg
L TR

Note: The air pollutant emissions by the HK Office and UK office,
being an office environment, were immaterial.

Solid waste disposal

We have introduced several waste emission or
discharge reduction and control measures to
reasonably reduce the amount of waste generated
in the production process and ensure effective
management of temporary waste storage. The
Group has asked its operating sites to keep
informed of laws and regulations and other
requirements published by local governments
as well as actual conditions, and actively and
scientifically sort, collect, and store waste from
within the Group. The waste management of the
Group’s operating sites as below:
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The solid waste generated in UK and Hong Kong
offices is mainly composed of three types: non-
recyclable domestic waste, recyclable domestic
waste (cartons, papers, waste metal, waste plastic
bags, glass, etc.), hazardous waste (waste batteries,
waste toner cartridges, waste ink cartridges and
other toxic and hazardous waste). For the wastes
that are recyclable, if can be reused in production,
will be reused as much as possible, or will be
disposed by waste recycling stations. Hazardous
wastes will be stored separately and handed over to
external agencies or returned to the manufacturer(s)
for disposal, and shall not be discarded at random in
order to prevent re-contamination. For non-reusable
office and domestic wastes produced from Hong
Kong offices’ operation, they are under centralised
management by property management personnel
of the office building, and will be transported to a
waste transfer station for classification, and then
transported to the site designated by the municipal
sanitation department for disposal. Those wastes
produced from United Kingdom’s office operation
will be delivered to waste collection station of
the office building by cleaning workers and then
arranged for collection and treatment by the
municipal government.

The hazardous waste generated by the Mines in
the production process, such as lead-containing
storage batteries and batteries, waste oil, waste
chemical reagents, will be transferred to the
qualified agencies for recycling and disposal in
accordance with the local environmental protection
laws. In addition, in order to reduce the generation
of waste, the Mines also collect, classify, and
arrange recycling of non-hazardous waste such
as plastic glass and metal to encourage recycling.
Below are examples of the Mines’ efforts to reduce
waste:

CGN Mining Company Limited
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o Collect iron-containing solid waste and put it o
in leaching liquid pools to help extract more
natural uranium, thus reducing waste and
increasing output

° Engage qualified processing companies to °
recover, process and recycle hazardous
waste such as waste oil and drilling fluid

Wk & B E iR
=Y BIGERR
Bt LA 15 B HR B R
ZHIR AR - D
REWLHBNIEINE

=

H

EReERRER
HEE - EHRE
BEEEMLYM
Yo I 48 hn T g 32
% BIERER

Set out below are the annual amounts of waste AT B S BAE 2 F R
produced during the Reporting Period: BYIEES
Mines in
Kazakhstan
e B T BT E RS
Hazardous waste tonnes 3.46
BEREEY 17
Hazardous waste intensity tonnes per tonne of production 0.0036
BEEEYER WE,EEE MR
Non-hazardous waste tonnes 32.70
BEEZEY g
Non-hazardous waste intensity tonnes per tonne of production 0.341
BEBRRVTE g, EE SN
Note: The waste produced by the HK Office and UK office, being e BARAERREBERA
an office environment, were immaterial. EERAERE  UE
BABFEYESE -
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ERERIE

HEREGRE

4.1.2.Making Good Use of Resources

Climate change is a huge and complex challenge
we are facing nowadays. All companies have the
responsibility to reduce greenhouse gas emissions
and protect the environment. To improve the
efficiency of the use of resources of energy, the
Group and the Mines are working to implement
a range of measures in three major aspects, i.e.
energy use, water resources and the extraction of
raw materials.

Energy conservation

The Group insists on energy conservation and
continuously increases efforts in lowering energy
consumption to reduce environmental pollution. The
Group and the Mines have implemented a number
of specific energy-saving measures to reduce
energy consumption.

Kazakhstan Mines:

° Conduct power consumption management in
the mine areas, turn off lightings of warehouse
and dormitory when no one is there. Power
consumption would not exceed the average
of full capacity;

° the Mines set production schedule for
continuous production and proper work
schedule for production plans, to prevent
unreasonable power consumption and
minimize the waste of power arising from
unused machines;

° Assess power consumption on a regular
basis. Conduct assessment and inspection
on those departments and workshops with
unreasonable power consumption to ensure
power is consumed reasonably;

CGN Mining Company Limited
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The Mines prohibit the use of incandescent
lamps, and install and use energy-saving LED
lighting systems instead;

For indoor heating, solar heat exchangers,
using heat exchange principles, have been
installed to replace traditional fossil fuels,
thus reducing carbon emissions and energy
consumption; and

Photovoltaic power stations have been built
to meet the daily lighting needs of the Mines
through solar energy, which can save 5% of
electricity consumption.

UK Office :

To reduce energy consumption, the air-
conditioning of the office is maintained at
25°C;

Turn off the air-conditioning system after
business hours and on weekend via the
management terminal.

Hong Kong Office :

Adopt LED lighting systems;

The air-conditioning of the Hong Kong office is
set a temperature of not lower than 25°C.
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Water efficiency

Water is an important and precious natural resource.
Though our reliance on freshwater resources varies
across each operation site of the Group, we are
committed to reducing water consumption in all of
our operations as far as possible. Both domestic
and industrial water of the Mines come from an
underground source. Such water intake has been
gone through environmental impact assessment
and has obtained the permit for water use issued by
the local government and there has been no issue
in sourcing water by the Mines. The Group and the
Mines strictly control the discharge and treatment of
sewage and strengthen the management of water
resources, with a view of “saving water and using it
wisely”. In addition, the Mines implement a variety of
water management measures, including:

° A large sewage recycling system was built
where sewage generated in production will
be transported to a biological purification
station for purification and disinfection, and
then be reused in garden irrigation, equipment
cleaning and production. The system can
save 10% of industrial water for the Mines
each year;

o Optimize work procedures and introduce
advanced alternative materials and equipment,
and calculate the amount of wastewater
generated each year and estimate future
wastewater generation;

o The domestic wastewater of the hydrometallurgy
workshop is transferred to the septic tank
after chlorination, transported to a biological
purification pool through plastic pipeline for
purification, and then reused; and

° Arrange reasonable use of water based on
production plan, and conduct assessment
of water consumption on a regular basis to
reduce unnecessary waste.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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During the Reporting Period, the main resources
consumed by the Group during its operations and

production are set out below:

Electricity
consumption

HEE

ERRR - 4 ERERRE

WERM  AEETE
EREEBRBFTERED
EBFZERMI W
™

Mines in
Kazakhstan

Hong Kong

UK Office Office

IRERANE
BRBLE &5

REPLE

Total electricity consumption kWh 7,375.2 14,393.00 29,922,017.00
BHEEE TRF
Electricity comsumption 1.475.04 2,398.83  Not Applicable
intensity kWh per employee

FEHREY TRE/GHET iEA

kWh per tonne of Not Applicable ~ Not Applicable 31,168.77

production

TRE/EEW TEA TERA

Mines in
Fuel consumption® Kazakhstan
HHAE® e B e ST 1B B 45
Renewable energy consumption litre 2,992,160.00
BAEgERAZ 7t
Renewable energy intensity litre per tonne of production 3,116.83
BARRERATE Ft/EENE
Diesel (stationary) consumption litre 644,388.00
Som (BER) g 7t
Diesel (stationary) comsumption intensity  litre per tonne of production 671.24
om(BER) ERRE A EEW
Diesel (mobile) consumption litre 299,948.00
Som(R@iR) g van
Diesel (mobile) comsumption intensity litre per tonne of production 312.45
S (RBNR) EA®RE FEENE
Mines in

Total water consumption® Kazakhstan
KEFRBFEED e B Te Hi 3 TS
Total water consumption m? 104,544.00
BIEKE T A
Water consumption intensity m? per tonne of production 108.90
BFEKERE SRR EENE
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Note:

1. Given the nature of the operation sites and no physical
production is taken place in the HK Office and the
UK Office, it is more meaningful to evaluate electricity
consumption per employee in respect of HK Office and UK
Office and electricity consumption per tonne of production
in respect of the Mines.

2. The fuel and water consumption by the HK Office and UK
office, being an office environment, were immaterial.

3. As uranium finished products do not involve finished
packaging, thus no package materials data could be
provided.

4.1.3.Promoting Green Operations

The Group actively integrates environmental
responsibility into its daily operations. We will
continue to examine feasible strategies and
measures for energy conservation and look for more
opportunities for energy conservation and carbon
reduction.

Promotion of green awareness

The Company and the Mines provide environmental
protection education to employees, encourage
them to practice energy conservation and
environmental protection in every aspect of work
and life, and advocate the conservation of water,
electricity, paper and office supplies. Employees
are also organised to take environmental protection
training courses on a regular basis to enhance
their awareness of environmental protection.
We inform employees of energy savings through
environmental protection signs displayed at
prominent location of the operating sites, such as
well sites, hydrometallurgy workshops, office area
and computers.

Green operations

In order to undertake corporate responsibility, the
Group promotes green operations and works on all
aspects of its operations to reduce environmental
damage. The Group and the Mines each have a
safety and environmental management department
to take charge of inspecting and supervising the
environmental protection and management of the
Mines.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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In terms of conservation, it is strictly forbidden
to hunt and kill animals in the Mines and the
surrounding areas, and vehicles of the Mines and
external contractors are prohibited from entering
the vegetation area outside the Mines. Without the
permission of the government, the Mines shall not
destroy or transplant plant species protected by the
state; the explored mining areas will be reclaimed
with surface vegetation to restore the original
ecological environment and reduce the damage
caused to the environment.

In addition, as to the procurement of materials, we
give preference to materials that have a relatively low
impact on the environment. For example, the Mines
use casing pipes made of non-toxic polyethylene
and polyvinyl chloride for well completion to prevent
pollution of the underground environment.

Green office

We have put in place green office measures for
office operations, including: attaching a power
saving sign to each power control device; setting
the air conditioning system to keep the office
room temperature at 25°C; building an auxiliary
office automation (OA) system to reduce the
use of paper for application submission; and
implementing paperless office by using email
communication at work as much as possible to
reduce paper consumption. We also conduct
internal communication from time to time to
strengthen the implementation of these measures.
Moreover, as for purchasing stationery items
and equipment, it is the Group’s on-going task
to encourage green procurement strategies. For
instance, prioritizing to the use of refrigerators and
other electrical appliances with energy efficiency
labels, using various environmentally friendly
materials such as reusable ink cartridges, recycled
papers and second-handed furniture, so as to avoid
consumption of excessive resources.
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4.1.4.Responses to Climate Change

It is an indisputable fact that global warming is
becoming more and more serious. In the future, our
next generation will face even greater challenges
when pursuing an ideal life. In this regard, the
Group seeks to take the optimal measures to
reduce greenhouse gas emissions from business
operations and combat climate change.

Carbon footprint

To address problems such as environmental
pollution and greenhouse gas effect, the world is
turning its eyes to clean energy development. The
Company and the Mines are also participating in it
and committed to exploiting natural uranium, which
are the main source of fuel for the nuclear industry.
Pollution is an inevitable by-product during the
process of operation. However, as a responsible
enterprise, we use our best efforts into incorporating
the green management in the operation of the
Group and the Mines, in order to reduce the amount
of pollutants produced from the Group’s operation,
pursue our environmental commitment and create a

sustainable society.

In order to reduce the emission of greenhouse gases
from the transportation, we encourage employees
to use video and telephone conferences with
devices provided by us, to reduce the frequency of
business travel and the greenhouse gas emissions
caused by the relevant transportation.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Greenhouse gas

emissions in total

BEREBAIKE

Greenhouse gas
emissions in total
BERBYINES

Tonnes of carbon
dioxide equivalent
AE—SLIRE =

Tonnes of carbon
dioxide equivalent
PSR EE

Direct emissions
BHEHEM

Energy-related indirect Tonnes of carbon

emissions dioxide equivalent
BEIR BB AR AP—EfriE

Tonnes of carbon
dioxide equivalent
per employee
RE—ELIREE
BEET

Tonnes of carbon
dioxide equivalent
per tonne of

Emission intensity (Note)

BemE = ()

production
AR IRER
EEENE

Note: Given the nature of the operation sites and no physical
production is taken place in the HK Office and the UK
Office, it is more meaningful to evaluate emission per
employee in respect of HK Office and UK Office and
emission per tonne of production in respect of the Mines.

Not Applicable

Hong Kong
Office

Mines in
Kazakhstan

MREER HTE

BERLE &5

5.8 7.34 35,664.99

0 0 2,505.41

5.8 7.34 33,159.58

117 1.22 Not Applicable

N iE A

Not Applicable SAILS
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Extrere weather

The Mines have corresponding measures
responding to sudden attack of extreme weather
(such as extremely low ambient temperatures and
typhoons). For instance, as it is usually severely cold
in the northern area of the Mines, the Mines install
heaters and equip changing room with sauna to
help outdoor workers to quickly recover their body
temperature; install observation points in the mine
areas to ensure necessary support to the outdoor
workers. In Hong Kong, we arrange our employees
in respect of reporting for duty and release from
work according to the Code of Practice in times of
Typhoons and Rainstorms released by the Hong
Kong Labour Department. It is important for the
Group to prevent possible accidents, so we check
the windows regularly to ensure that no loose
fixings, no deformation and cleared of dust. Any
glass panes found aging during the checking should
be replaced once due, or any glass panes are
cracked during use should be replaced at once to
ensure safety.

4.2. People Oriented

Management approaches and policies

Employees are our most valuable assets. We protect
employees’ rights and interests, cares for their health
and safety, improves their work conditions and explores
opportunities for better career development for the
employees. The Group strictly abides by all relevant local
employment laws and regulations of all operation sites,
including the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Labour Contract Law of People’s Republic
of China, the Social Insurance Law of the People’s
Republic of China in PRC; the Employment Ordinance,
the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance in Hong Kong;
and the Equal Opportunities Employment Policy, the
Equality Act 2010 in the UK. During the Reporting Period,
the Company did not have any cases of violation of the
relevant employment laws and regulations, nor did it
receive any complaints related to recruitment.

CGN Mining Company Limited
HEKBERERERAT
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The details of employees of the Group and the Mines in
the past year are as follows:

Number of

employees

ET A

By gender persons
=Rl AL

By age persons
RFle AL

By rank persons
RE AR AR AL

Staff turnover

ABRK

Total turnover rate %

AL R

By gender %
LR

By age %
BFBR

TRERER - HEREGHRE

SERBESEE—FNREEM

(N
Hong Kong

Office and Mines in

UK Office Kazakhstan

BEEANAZE KEREME

REEHAZE 5

Male 53 8 519

FemaleZz 5 65

Aged 15-245% 0 160

Aged 25-345% 4 135

Aged 35-445% 5 140

Aged 45-545%, 4 110

Aged 55-645% 0 39

Senior management 0 14
BRERE

Middle management 3 59
HEERE

Supervisor 2 48

TE
Staff 8 463
8T

Overall
B
Male55
Female%

Aged 15-245%
Aged 25-345%
Aged 35-447%
Aged 45-545%
Aged 55-645%,

Hong Kong
Office and Mines in
UK Office Kazakhstan
BEERAE KExHHE

REBE#HA
15.38% 6.51%
12.50% 5.78%
40.00% 12.31%
0.00% 1.88%
0.00% 16.30%
20.00% 6.43%
0.00% 2.73%
0.00% 2.56%
Annual Report 2019 1 1 3
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4.2.1.Equal Employment

Equal opportunity and diversity

As an employer offering equal employment
opportunities, the Group is committed to providing
a good working environment against discrimination
and harassment for all employees. The Company’s
employment policy adheres to the principle of equal
opportunity. The Group does not discriminate
against employees due to race, skin color, religious
belief, nationality, gender, age, marital status, family
status or disability, and ensures that employees or
job applicants are considered and selected based
on their job skills, qualifications, capabilities and
work experiences.

Recruitment and retention of talents

The Group upholds the principles of democracy,
openness, competition and excellence. Recruitment
process must be conducted according to relevant
laws and regulations, policies and work process, in
order to achieve principles, act fairly, uphold justice
and implement rigorous control measures. We
enter into employment contracts with employee in
accordance with relevant regulations that specify
the rights and obligations between the Company
and employee, so as to create the stable and
sustainable employment.

Protection of rights and interests

We have established specific measures for dismissal
and compensation. If an employee seriously
misbehaves in the course of work and causes
damage to the interests of the Group, the Company
and the Mines may terminate his/her employment
contract in accordance with the relevant
employment laws and request compensation from
him/her according to law.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Employee benetfits

The Group adheres to the management philosophy
of “setting post-specific salaries and adjusting
salaries for job changes”, and has developed a
comprehensive annual salary review mechanism.
According to its annual total salary budget, the
Company formulates a salary adjustment plan as
appropriate based on the benchmarking against
similar positions in the market and the performance
appraisal grades of employees for the previous
year to provide employees with fair and competitive
compensation packages.

We have a set of management policies for
promotion and transfer of employees. The transfer
or promotion of an employee’s position is suggested
based on business needs, and an appraisal will be
conducted on the performance of such employee.
The appraisal result will be reviewed by the human
resources department and approved by the
chief executive officer. Career progression of an
employee is determined based on the performance
in its results and works and the qualification of
individual. The Company encourages employee
development and gives priority to internal selection
for hiring talents under the same conditions.

The Group is dedicated to improving the welfare
of its employees. The Company makes social
insurance contributions for employees and provides
them with adequate paid leave as required by law.
In addition, Semizbay-U provides employees with
maternity leave of up to three years (the provision
of paid maternity leave for the first year and the
provision of compensation according to national
policy for the second and third year) in accordance
with relevant laws in Kazakhstan. We also provide
other additional benefits, such as transportation
allowance, training allowance, subsidies for
accommodation and meal allowance. In the future,
we will improve our retirement policy and enhance
the sense of belonging among employees.
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Work-life balance

The Group always value the physical and mental
health of employees and support them to enjoy
living a full life in their spare time. The Group has
set up a 24-hour psychological counselling hotline
service for employees and issued them Happy-
feeling cards. The Company also provides stress
training to stimulate employees’ awareness of
stress management and expand their physical and
mental resources, so as to reduce the impact of
stress on themselves and the Company and help
them manage stress more effectively. In addition,
the Company’s employee handbook stipulates that
employees are not encouraged to work overtime in
order to ensure that they have enough rest time.

Employee communication

The Group understands that cohesiveness
among employees is an important driving force
for enterprise development. Establishing a good
communication channel network is the cornerstone
of the relationships between employees and
the Group. Therefore, the Group welcomes and
values its employees’ opinions, our employees can
make suggestions for the Group at any time via
suggestion boxes, mail boxes, telephones, social
applications and other channels. In addition, the
Group discusses relevant labour issues according
to its internal and external environment in the middle
of each year with an aim of balancing relevant
employees’ benefits.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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4.2.2.0ccupational Health and Safety 422.BFREHELT S
Management approaches and policies TR RIBR
The Group is committed to improving its SE—EBRORRESE
occupational safety and health standards and ¥ r EEFRKERIE

creating the most suitable working environment
to protect valuable human resources. Therefore,
the Group and the Mines have in place a sound
mechanism to manage occupational health and
safety-related issues and to conduct regular
reviews and assessments, so as to meet regulatory
requirements and the development needs of the
Group and the Mines.

The Group strictly abide by the relevant safety laws.
During the Reporting Period, there was no case
of prosecution for violation of occupational safety-
related laws.

NEEFBEANTHER
B AREEENAL
BIR - MAKRERIES
BETENRS EE
BERERZZHEBS
B WEHETRER
il UNEHEEEE
ME - A KE KR
BEBERNFTE -

SEERETHEBANR
A0 BEHAKRE
A7 E R ER R Z 2
B8 0% I T 4% A 4% &0 (@

o

==
ES

Hong Kong
Office and Mines in
Health and Safety UK Office  Kazakhstan
EERRAZE K iE R e
REHEZE REBERAE &5
Work-related fatality 2019 0 0
(persons) 2018 0 0
BT (AZ) 2017 0 0
Lost days due to work- 2019 0 0
related injuries (days) 2018 0 0
SEREEPNEEACN) 2017 0 0
Establishment of the Health, Safety and Environment R L R IRIESS
Department
In order to improve its safety management, the BRABSNEZE2ERE
Mines have set up a safety department to take KE - BHRILTLE
charge of the safety affairs in the Mines. The HFERESANLZSE

safety department conducts safety inspections
on the work sites on a weekly basis to review its
occupational health and safety performances,
reports the existing risks and proposes relevant
rectification measures, and supervises and tracks
the progress of the rectification measures to further
reduce the accident rate.
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There are one occupational health and safety
specialist and two first-aiders to take care of the
safety matters in UK office. Moreover, we conduct
safety risks assessment on a yearly basis, and take
immediate rectification actions for the problems
appearing to minimize the safety risk of possible
problems.

Safe working environment

The Mines will conduct analysis and risk assessment
of the working environment to identify the processes
and areas with risks, and take appropriate corrective
and preventive measures for operations that fail to
comply with the internal occupational health and
safety regulations.

Based on the safety risk assessment results, the
Mines have developed a number of specific safety
measures, such as: provide sufficient personal
protective equipment, like safety belts for aerial
work, anti-dust and anti-harmful gas masks and
acid-proof overalls, and require that employees
must wear these equipment when entering a
workplace; arrange for motor vehicle safety
inspectors to inspect the driving conditions of
mineral vehicles and the health conditions of drivers
in order to ensure the safe driving of vehicles; and
test the operational status of relevant equipment
and mineral vehicles on a regular basis.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Raising safety awareness

We are dedicated to promoting safety culture
to ensure the occupational safety and health of
employees. The Mines require all employees to
receive safety training and pass a safety examination
before taking up a job. In addition, the Mines also
arrange a safety examination every two years so
that employees can review and update their safety
knowledge.

Total caring

Each year, the Group provides comprehensive
physical examinations for employees to care for
their health status, and invite medical experts to
give health lectures in the Mines to increase the
health knowledge of employees. In addition to
employees’ physical health, we are also concerned
about their mental health. The Group organizes
psychological awareness workshops for employees
on a regular basis, in order to improve their social
skills, emotion management skills and productivity.
Meanwhile, we provide mental health consulting
services to employees that offer full mental support
to employees with individual counselling over the
phone.
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4.2.3.Potential Development 4.2.3. % /R B8

Management approaches and policies EE LT RER

To maintain the Group’s competitiveness in the ERBERAMNARN
world of rapid development of technology, it is HtEgh - BMEBEEZE
important that we keep our skills and knowledge EBRFEEMMNEER
up-to-date. Therefore, we promote the spirit of MRFEBENREFT
life-long learning and cultivating a continuous B BRERFE
learning culture. To further improve team values B UWEEREEEX
and professionalism of staff, we organize training 1t - Ri#E—TRAEK
programmes for staff on a yearly basis. Employees WEEBERE TAEFEK
will be arranged to take a series of job skills training T BMAEEIHTEME
courses every year. Such training courses are AFEHFIFE - EE
closely related to the actual work of the employee, BFEHBHLTHESIN—
which can help quickly improve his/her job skill in ESdll=kvEsd: =11 Il
both theory and practice and thus continuously BEJIEZEEMNER
enhance his/her vocational and professional THEERLELS BN
capabilities. HERMEBMR S ER

HERTTRE S TER
B EMIBERTZE

BB (A EZ (LK
During the Reporting Period, the average training R EHE - AEER
hours and the training rate of employees of the BB ABEEREENF
Group and the Mines are as follows: H R E g R
S &
Trainings Hong Kong Office and UK Office Mines in Kazakhstan
=3 BRBAERERMBAZE ha e TR RS
Average Training Training Average Training Training
Hour (hour) Rate (%) Hour (hour) Rate (%)
TG #i= T 19553 =
BB () (%) R 8 () (%)
By gender Male5 52.00 100 20.52 68
okl FemaleZt 51.60 100 17.54 58
By rank Senior management = = 3212 100
ERREY RRERE
Middle management 56.70 100 27.97 93
HEERE
Supervisor 66.00 100 17.50 58
£
Staff 46.50 100 19.11 64
8T
1 20 CGN Mining Company Limited
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Mechanism for integration of new employees

In order to speed up the adaptation of new
employees to the working environment and their
integration into the Group’s culture, the Company
arranges for new employees to attend “Bailu
Training” which is focused on company profile,
corporate culture, company systems and business
introduction, so that they can understand the
relevant systems, cultural values and current
situation of the Company. To effectively inherit
technology, the Company has specially prepared
a job training program outline specifying the
authorised training sessions to be completed by
newly-recruited employees, so as to train employees
with specific knowledge and skills, guidelines and
specifications on production safety, and share the
relevant experience with them.

Vocational skills training

The Mines provide various training courses on
professional skills and language skills for employees
to equip themselves for work. The courses cover
engineering design, instrumentation and software
applications, and English and Kazakh learning.
Employees acquired knowledge regarding lean
production through a relaxed team learning model,
enhanced the professional management skills.
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Youth cultivation

In order to broaden the horizons of the youth, the
Company encourages young employees to continue
their studies by signing contracts with them to
subsidize their further studies while retaining their
jobs.

4.2.4.Labour Standards

Management approaches and policies

The Group has been committed to protecting its
employees’ rights and interests and creating a fair
working environment for them. Therefore, the Group
strictly prohibits the recruitment of child labour and
illegal labour and the use of any forms of forced
labour. The Group strictly complies with local laws in
relation to employment, including the Labour Law of
the People’s Republic of China, the Labour Contract
Law of People’s Republic of China, the Social
Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China
in PRC; the Employment Ordinance in Hong Kong
and the Equal Opportunities Employment Policy, the
Equality Act 2010 in the UK. Meanwhile, the Mines
strictly comply with the Labour Law of the Republic
of Kazakhstan. During the Reporting Period, there
was no case of prosecution for violation of laws and
regulations relating to the prevention of child labour
or forced labour.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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The Company’s employee handbook stipulates that
employees are not encouraged to work overtime
in order to guarantee that they have enough rest
time. In addition, the Company has established the
“Labour and Employment Management Measures,
which clearly provides that the requirements of
national and local labour laws and regulations must
be met. The Company stipulates that if an employee
is found to have provided false documentation or
made false statements about personal information
after signing a labour or employment contract, the
contract signed by both parties shall be invalid,
and the Company shall require the employee to
compensate for its losses. The Mines also abide
by the provisions of Kazakhstan’s labour law
concerning the prohibition of forced labour, including
the prohibition of servitude, corporal punishment
or violence against employees, and appropriately
arranges their working hours and workloads. We
allow our employees to exercise their rights on
freedom of association by joining trade unions and
participating in collective negotiation, and report
any suspected misconduct or abuse through the
whistle-blowing mechanism.

The Mines’ employee handbook stipulates that
employees are not encouraged to work overtime in
order to guarantee that they have enough rest time.
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4.3. Operational Commitment

4.3.1.Supply Chain Management

Management guidelines and policies

The steady development of the Group’s business is
dependent on the reliable support of its suppliers.
Supplier is one of the major stakeholders who
contributes to business value recreation, with tight
bonding with the Group. The Group is also fully
committed to building a good partnership with
our suppliers. To promote closer relations and
cooperation with suppliers, the Group has created
the flexible procurement standards in order to cater
different needs in our supply chain.

Policy on engagerment of suppliers

The Group is proud to provide excellent products
and services to our customers. Working closely with
a wide range of suppliers is key to our success.
The Group established a sound supplier selection
process to ensure potential suppliers and sub-
contractors engaging in fair competition and
having equal opportunity. All materials and service
contracts of the Mines shall be publicised and go
through a tender process on the tender website
of the National Welfare Fund Samruk-Kazyna of
Kazakhstan to ensure that the tender process is
open, fair and impartial. Prospective suppliers shall
provide all necessary qualification documents on the
website for review. The procurement department
of the Group holds a practice to inspect the goods
from suppliers from time to time, in order to ensure
the stable and sufficient supply of materials and
goods at the agreed quality, time, price and other
terms of service commitment.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Sustainable supply chain

As a responsible corporate citizen, we encourage
suppliers and service contractors to join hands with
us to help mitigate environmental and social impacts
that induced by business operations, while the
Company and the Mines are seriously taking two
major issues of environmental protection and social
responsibility. The Group urges them to promote
environmental protection and social responsibilities
in all aspects. For example, the Mines also require
suppliers to provide their employees with adequate
personal protective equipment and require them to
wear the equipment during work.

We have formulated Supplier Qualification
Assessment Questionnaire, and require suppliers to
complete a self-assessment on environmental and
social risks, in order to reduce environmental and
social risks throughout our value chain. Furthermore,
the Group has established stringent criteria for
supplier selection and performance assessment.
The criteria include supplier’s equipment, reliability
of their technical skills, environmental protection and
the safety scope. Energy consumption of supplier’s
equipment, environmental impact of the production
process and the level of reduction in raw material
consumption are also considered. Moreover,
equipment safety is also one of the criteria.
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4.3.2.Customer Service and Product Safety

Management approaches and policies

The Group strictly abides by the relevant laws
and regulations and industry quality standards
to improve its quality management standards,
protect the basic rights and interests of customers,
and provide responsible products and services
to customers, so as to achieve the “quality,
environment and safety” goals of 100% customer
satisfaction, zero complaints and zero accidents.

Quality assurance

The Mines have obtained ISO 9001 Quality
Management System certification to guarantee
that the entire mining process is carried out in
accordance with the international standards. The
management policies and quality standards under
the quality management system framework have
been fully implemented across the Group.

Product safety

In order to ensure the quality and reliability of the
products provided, the Mines will conduct sample
analysis before delivery according to the customer’s
product standards and strictly stipulate that during
the storage and transportation of products, all
uranium containers must be sealed to the maximum
extent possible to avoid leaking of radioactive
materials and damage to the biosphere. In the
course of transportation, it is required that the
hazardous nature of uranium products must be
clearly marked on the transportation vehicles for
safety warning.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Quality services

The Group always focuses on customer satisfaction
and we always apply it at each point of production.
We are keen to raise the performance level of
various aspects of the business. Moreover, as for
complaints about quality issues, the Group will do
its utmost to make improvements and resolve the
issues concerned while analysing the causes to
improve its performance in this regard.

Information confidentiality

The Mines have formulated a policy to prohibit
all employees from disclosing information about
customers who purchase natural uranium,
and require employees to sign a confidentiality
agreement to prevent the leakage of information of
the Company. Confidential documents including
customer’s personal information shall be strictly
managed and kept by a dedicated department.
Employees are not allowed to access these
documents without permission.

Intellectual property and copyright protection policy

We always attach great importance to and protect
intellectual property. To create an environment for
a fair competition, the Group has been completely
following the standards and practices of the rights.
The Company has established sound rules and
regulations on intellectual property protection. We
also organise education and training on intellectual
property for employees to raise their awareness of
intellectual property protection and establish the
concepts of innovation, integrity and intellectual
property protection.
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Fair Marketing Policy

The Group promotes the adoption of sound
promotion and marketing practices, and any
advertisement shall not make a description, claim
or explanation that is inconsistent with the facts.
We will also formulate our sales and promotional
documents in accordance with the relevant
laws and codes of practice to ensure that our
promotional materials and advertising content are
true, fair and reasonable.

4.3.3.Corporate Governance

Management approaches and policies

We strive to build a corporate culture of integrity
and fairness by upholding the principles of
honesty, fairness, transparency and undertaking
responsibility, and having zero tolerance to
corruption and fraud.

The Group has a strict anti-corruption policy which
requires all employees to comply professionally with
the Group’s policies on conflicts of interest, code
of conduct for business activities, and prevention of
bribery and corruption.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Business ethics

In order to build a corporate culture of integrity and
prevent corruption, the Mines have formulated anti-
corruption and anti-fraud policies which clearly
defines that all violations of financial regulatory
measures including money laundering, illegal
provision of material rewards to individuals and
enterprises, illegal receipt of material rewards from
individuals are illegal acts of corruption. Specific
preventive measures have also been developed to
prevent corruption.

The Mines organise open tendering and bidding in
strict accordance with the procurement rules set
by the National Welfare Fund Samruk-Kazyna of
Kazakhstan to ensure the fairness and compliance
of the relevant procedures. The procurement rules
also stipulate that the tender notice and related
information shall be published to material suppliers
or service contractors on the designated media.
Furthermore, the Company’s internal service
procurement shall go through a rigorous pre-
approval process, and a tiered approval system
has been set up for bids and contracts with
different amounts to ensure that the procurement
procedures are closely monitored.
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4.4. Giving Back to Society

The Group is well aware that its responsibility is not
only to contribute directly to the economy, but also
to generate positive impact on the society as a whole
through its optimised business operations and public
welfare programs. In the New Year, the Mines arrange
their staff to visit neighbouring primary schools, and
provide students with New Year gifts and schooling items.
In addition, funds have also been provided to cover the
daily operating expenses of the local stadium.

Cultivating the future

The Mines and the Prairie Mining Technical School (&
FE ERE R T EAR) and the Semimarazine Geotechnical
School (fFiK B A E & T 24%) initiated a long-
term internship training program, students were able to
experience the actual working environment and made
themselves prepared for future participation in the society.

Physical health support

We organize employees to participate in sports events
hosted by the local government as a mean to support
the development of sports. Meanwhile, employees were
encouraged to take active parts in sports activities. On
the other hand, the Mines have actively participated
in the Islamic New Year celebrations hosted by local
organizations. The participation in these cultural and
sports activities helped bringing people closer and
building a harmonious society.

Planting hope

The Company advocates green and low-carbon lifestyle
and took the initiative to organize regular green activities.
Since its establishment, the Company has kept the
practice of organizing tree-planting activities every year for
employees in building a green home.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Independent Auditor’s Report

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
43/F., Lee Garden One

33 Hysan Avenue

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

fekspia

Shineﬂ)mg

TO THE MEMBERS OF CGN MINING COMPANY LIMITED
FREBEEARAT

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CGN Mining
Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 138 to 262,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”)
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional

judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated

financial statements of the current period. These matters were

addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial

statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON THE
INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

Refer to note 21 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies on pages 156 to 158.

The key audit matter

The Group has 19.88% interest in
an associate, Fission Uranium Corp.
which is a listed company in Canada.
As at 31 December 2019, the interest
in an associate held by the Group is
approximately HK$553,522,000.

During the year ended 31 December
2019, the associate has incurred loss
in operation. Following a review of the
business, the outlook for the industry
and the market conditions, as the
uranium price and the Canadian dollar
were in fluctuation, there is a risk of
impairment in respect of the interest in
an associate; management has carried
out the impairment assessment on the
interest in an associate.

We considered this a key audit matter
because this involves a significant
degree of management judgement in
respect of the valuation methods and
assumptions for the estimation of the
recoverable amount of the interest in
the associate.

CGN Mining Company Limited
hEREEERAA

How the matter was addressed in our

audit

Our procedures were designed to review
the management’s assessment of the
indicators of impairment and understand
and assess the reasonableness of the
methods and assumptions used in the
valuation model to estimate the recoverable
amount of the associate.

We have discussed and assessed the
indicators of possible impairment with the
management and the component auditor
and, where such indicators were identified,
assessed the management’s impairment
testing.

We have assessed the valuation
methodology and compared significant
inputs to third party sources. We have
also understood and assessed the key
assumptions and critical judgement
used by the management based on our
knowledge of the business and industry.
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IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON THE
INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE

Refer to note 20 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies on pages 156 to 158.

The key audit matter

The Group has 49% interest in a joint
venture, Semizbay-U Limited Liability
Partnership. As at 31 December
2019, the interest in a joint venture
held by the Group is approximately
HK$237,775,000.

Following a review of the business, the
outlook for the industry and the market
conditions, as the uranium price and
Kazakhstani Tenge were in fluctuation,
there is a risk of impairment in respect
of the interest in a joint venture;
management has carried out the
impairment assessment on the interest
in a joint venture.

We considered this a key audit matter
because this involves a significant
degree of management judgement in
respect of the valuation methods and
assumptions for the estimation of the
recoverable amount of the interest in
the joint venture.

How the matter was addressed in our

audit

Our procedures were designed to review
the management’s assessment of the
indicators of impairment and understand
and assess the reasonableness of the
methods and assumptions used in the
valuation model to estimate the recoverable
amount of the joint venture.

We have discussed and assessed
the indicators of possible
impairment with the management
and the component auditors
and, where such indicators
were identified, assessed the
management’s impairment testing.

We have assessed the valuation
methodology and compared
significant inputs to third party
sources. We have also understood
and assessed the key assumptions
and critical judgement used by
the management based on our
knowledge of the business and
industry.
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